

Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: December 22, 2017 ACCEPTED: March 6, 2018 PUBLISHED: March 12, 2018

Gluons and gravitons at one loop from ambitwistor strings

Yvonne Geyer^{*a,c*} and **Ricardo Monteiro**^{*b,c*}

^aSchool of Natural Sciences, Institute for Advanced Study, Einstein Drive, Princeton, NJ 08540, U.S.A.

^bCentre for Research in String Theory,

Queen Mary University of London, E1 4NS, U.K.

^cKavli Institute for Theoretical Physics,

University of California Santa Barbara, CA 93106-4030, U.S.A.

E-mail: yvonnegeyer@ias.edu, ricardo.monteiro@qmul.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We present new and explicit formulae for the one-loop integrands of scattering amplitudes in non-supersymmetric gauge theory and gravity, valid for any number of particles. The results exhibit the colour-kinematics duality in gauge theory and the doublecopy relation to gravity, in a form that was recently observed in supersymmetric theories. The new formulae are expressed in a particular representation of the loop integrand, with only one quadratic propagator, which arises naturally from the framework of the looplevel scattering equations. The starting point in our work are the expressions based on the scattering equations that were recently derived from ambitwistor string theory. We turn these expressions into explicit formulae depending only on the loop momentum, the external momenta and the external polarisations. These formulae are valid in any number of spacetime dimensions for pure Yang-Mills theory (gluon) and its natural double copy, NS-NS gravity (graviton, dilaton, B-field), and we also present formulae in four spacetime dimensions for pure gravity (graviton). We perform several tests of our results, such as checking gauge invariance and directly matching our four-particle formulae to previously known expressions. While these tests would be elaborate in a Feynman-type representation of the loop integrand, they become straightforward in the representation we use.

KEYWORDS: Scattering Amplitudes, Gauge Symmetry

ARXIV EPRINT: 1711.09923

Contents

1 Introduction						
2	Review	5				
	2.1 Tree-level amplitudes and BCJ numerators	6				
	2.2 One-loop integrands from ambitwistor strings	10				
3	One-loop BCJ numerators	14				
	3.1 Derivation from ambitwistor strings	14				
	3.2 Algorithm for master numerators	17				
	3.3 Examples	20				
4	Tests of our Yang-Mills formulae	22				
	4.1 Tests at four points	23				
	4.2 Tests in four dimensions: all-plus and one-minus amplitudes	26				
	4.3 Comment on representations of the loop integrand	27				
	4.4 Comment on unitarity cuts	27				
5	Double copy to gravity	28				
6 Discussion						
A	A Master numerators at four points					
в	3 Master numerators independent of the reference ordering 3					

1 Introduction

Recent progress in the study of perturbative scattering amplitudes has often relied on supersymmetry. While the study of supersymmetric theories has both theoretical and practical motivations, it is important to know to what extent recent findings actually rely on supersymmetry, not least in view of the relevance to present day phenomenology. In this work, we study non-supersymmetric gauge theory and gravity by employing two remarkable developments in the study of amplitudes: (i) the formalism of the scattering equations and ambitwistor strings, and (ii) the double-copy relation between gauge theory and gravity. These closely interconnected structures are easier to study at loop level when working with supersymmetric theories. They are, however, also expected to hold in the absence of supersymmetry. This is indeed what we find.

Our main outcome is a set of explicit expressions for the n-particle one-loop integrands in non-supersymmetric gauge theory and gravity. The formulae are a stepping stone in the application of ambitwistor strings to practical calculations of scattering amplitudes, including for theories of phenomenological interest. Moreover, our results have consequences for the understanding of gravity as the 'square' of non-abelian gauge theories.

In its basic structure, the double-copy relation between Yang-Mills theory and gravity remains intriguing, especially at loop level where it is only a conjecture. The most fruitful tool to understand it has been the Bern-Carrasco-Johansson (BCJ) duality between colour and kinematics [1, 2]. The colour-kinematics duality ascertains a hidden symmetry of the gauge-theory S-matrix when expressed as a sum over cubic Feynman-like diagrams. Specifically, it states that the kinematic numerators associated to the diagrams can be chosen to satisfy a Jacobi relation whenever the corresponding colour factors satisfy that Jacobi identity. This property ensures that gravity amplitudes can be obtained from gauge theory amplitudes by simply substituting the colour-factor by another copy of the kinematic factor, a process known as *double copy*. At tree level, the BCJ double copy is equivalent to the Kawai-Lewellen-Tye (KLT) relations [3] arising from string theory. String theory provides a beautiful interpretation of the double copy as relating closed string amplitudes to open string amplitudes; where gravitons, as massless vibrations of closed strings, arise from joining the endpoints of a pair of open strings. In fact, the tree-level BCJ structure has been proven by the same worldsheet monodromy properties of string theory that underlie the KLT relations [4, 5]; and it has also been proven using modern field theory techniques [6, 7]. There are numerous constructions of tree-level BCJ representations for gauge theory and gravity, e.g. [8–19]. The double-copy structure also turns out to generalise to a variety of theories — and relations between them — ranging from open string theory to effective scalar field theories such as the non-linear sigma model and the Galileon [20-24]. Moreover, it applies beyond flat-space scattering amplitudes, to perturbative (and in certain cases exact) solutions to the classical equations of motion, e.g. [25-30], and to scattering on curved backgrounds [31, 32].

At loop level, the straightforward extension of the colour-kinematics duality to the loop integrand is conjectural [2]. There are many non-trivial examples of supersymmetric amplitudes for which a BCJ representation exists, to cite a few [2, 33–40], and there are also examples of form factors [41, 42]. In fact, at one loop there is strong evidence that the colour-kinematics duality holds in general, and that the underlying structure is similar to that at tree level (irrespective of supersymmetry) [43–53], including the string theory monodromy story [54–56].

However, there are also obstacles to the colour-kinematics duality at generic loop level. In particular, it may not be possible to find a colour-kinematics satisfying representation if one restricts the numerators to be local and to satisfy reasonable power counting properties in the loop momenta. The most notable example of this difficulty is the five-loop four-point amplitude in maximal super-Yang-Mills theory. The motivation is the construction of its double copy in maximal supergravity, whose ultraviolet properties — a long standing problem — may offer hints on the all-loop ultraviolet behaviour of the theory. Recent work [57] has explored the double-copy structure in the absence of numerators satisfying the Jacobi relations, and this has allowed for the construction of the full loop integrand for this amplitude [58], although more work is required to extract the ultraviolet behaviour.

There are previous examples of getting around this type of BCJ obstacle by relaxing in some way the Jacobi relations [59, 60] or the loop power counting [61]. Investigations from the field theory limit of string theory have also identified obstructions to the naive expectations of the BCJ structure [50, 62].

Given these obstacles and potential solutions, it is important to revisit the workings of the colour-kinematics duality using a first-principles approach. Such an approach is provided by the other main development that we explore in this work, namely the Cachazo-He-Yuan (CHY) formalism of the scattering equations [63–65] and its worldsheet interpretation in terms of ambitwistor strings, discovered by Mason and Skinner [31, 32, 66–71]. The latter are quantum field theories formulated in a string-like manner, and they inherit with some modifications the structures of ordinary string theory that so naturally express the double copy; refs. [72–76] study the precise connection to string theory. Crucially, ambitwistor strings provide a loop-level framework which is much easier to work with than the genus expansion of ordinary string theory. While some ambitwistor string models admit a genus expansion [77-79], there is a more general formalism of an expansion in the number of nodes of a Riemann sphere, with the nodes (pairs of identified points) representing the loop momenta [80–83]. This expansion can in principle be derived from the genus expansion when the latter exists, and in fact it was discovered in this way at one loop [80]. For an alternative approach to the loop-level scattering equations, based on a (hyper)elliptic curve, see [84–87].

The formulae for amplitudes directly obtained from ambitwistor strings are based on the scattering equations. At loop level, the formulae give the loop integrand, expressed in a manner analogous to the tree-level CHY formulae, but now based on the loop-level scattering equations [80–82]. A remarkable feature of these new loop-level formulae is that the representation of the loop integrand is not of the Feynman type, with ordinary propagators of the form $1/(\ell + K)^2$. Instead, the framework of the nodal Riemann sphere gives a propagator structure based mostly on linear propagators, such as $1/(2\ell \cdot K + K^2)$. This new representation discovered in [80] was explored in several works, including [81-85,88–92]. One conclusion is that this representation is well suited to express loop integrands in terms of higher-point tree-level amplitudes. We will see in this paper that the contributions to the *n*-particle one-loop integrand are a forward limit of contributions to an (n+2)-particle tree-level amplitude; the forward limit is the gluing of the 2 extra particles into a loop. This is analogous to the Feynman tree theorem. Ref. [90] provides the most advanced discussion available at the moment on formal aspects of the new type of loop integrand representation, and also presents a higher-loop construction (Q-cuts) in the spirit of the Feynman tree theorem.

Let us now discuss in more detail the relationship between the scattering equations and the double copy. At tree level, the CHY formulae have been shown to provide an elegant alternative representation of the BCJ structure; see e.g. [65, 93–98]. In fact, the predecessor to the new developments of scattering equations and ambitwistor strings, namely Witten's twistor string theory [99] and the resulting 'connected' formula for amplitudes [100], had already been shown to be closely intertwined with the BCJ and KLT relations [101, 102]. In recent work, starting from [65], much of the attention has focused on the remarkable properties of the CHY Pfaffian, the crucial building block that is 'squared' from gauge theory to gravity. Along this line of work, ref. [103] by Fu, Du, Huang and Feng is of particular interest to us. It presents an explicit and straightforward algorithm to write down tree-level BCJ numerators, based on a decomposition of the CHY Pfaffian. Aside from shedding light on the BCJ struture, it also provides a simple tool for dealing with the CHY amplitude expressions without explicitly solving the scattering equations.

It is natural then to study the extension of the double-copy structure to one loop using the formalism of the scattering equations. Recently, He and Schlotterer [104, 105] have addressed this question successfully in the case of supersymmetric theories (with various degrees of supersymmetry). They have found a natural BCJ-type structure at one loop, which relates to the tree-level structure in the same type of forward limit that we mentioned above. The details differ from the original loop-level BCJ conjecture [2]. The origin of this distinction is the representation of the loop momentum: the results obtained in the representation that naturally comes out of the scattering equations are not easily translated into the standard BCJ numerators associated to Feynman-type propagators. Ref. [105] stopped short of detailing this structure in the non-supersymmetric case, because the forward-limit procedure used for the loop integrand is divergent without the cancellations provided by supersymmetry.

In this work, we find that the type of BCJ structure described in [104, 105] also exists in the absence of supersymmetry, if one relaxes certain integrand-level identities to be valid only up to terms that vanish upon loop integration. While our results also follow from a forward limit, the procedure we apply works already at the level of the individual numerators, and therefore avoids the usual diverging propagators. In particular, we obtain one-loop BCJ numerators directly from the tree-level BCJ numerators of [103] via

$$N_{1-\text{loop}}(i_1, i_2, \dots, i_n) = \sum_r N_{\text{tree-level}}(+, i_1, i_2, \dots, i_n, -),$$

where \pm represent the back-to-back loop momentum $\pm \tilde{\ell}$ (an on-shell version such that $\tilde{\ell}^2 = 0$), and the sum is over the gluon states running in the loop. This relation between treelevel numerators and one-loop numerators is derived from the equivalent relation between the tree-level CHY Pfaffian introduced in [64] and its one-loop analogue determined in [81] from the ambitwistor string. Our results, as those of [104, 105], do not directly translate into conclusions for what the BCJ structure should be in a representation with Feynmantype propagators.

This article exemplifies the remarkable properties of the novel type of representation for the loop integrand. Firstly, we easily extend a technique that was successful at tree level to loop level. Secondly, the colour-kinematics duality and the double copy are manifest. Thirdly, we are able to straightforwardly perform explicit tests of our formulae, namely to check gauge invariance and to match previously known forms of the integrand, both of which require non-trivial procedures in a Feynman-type representation. The simplicity of these tests follows from the fact that, in the representation we use, certain integrand-level expressions are trivially recognised to vanish upon loop integration [90]. We write the one-loop contribution to the scattering amplitude in the form

$$\mathcal{A}^{(1)} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^D \ell}{\ell^2} \,\mathfrak{I}(\ell) \,, \tag{1.1}$$

where \Im depends on the loop momentum but not on ℓ^2 ; we shall discuss this representation in the review section. Now suppose that

$$\mathfrak{I}'(\ell) = \mathfrak{I}(\ell) + \Delta \mathfrak{I}(\ell), \quad \text{with} \quad \Delta \mathfrak{I}(\lambda \ell) = \lambda^m \Delta \mathfrak{I}(\ell), \quad (1.2)$$

for some integer m. It follows that, in dimensional regularisation,¹

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^D \ell}{\ell^2} \Delta \mathfrak{I}(\ell) = 0 \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \mathfrak{I}'(\ell) \simeq \mathfrak{I}(\ell) \,, \tag{1.3}$$

where we use the symbol \simeq to denote that both $\Im'(\ell)$ and $\Im(\ell)$ give the same result after loop integration, and are therefore valid forms of the loop integrand for the amplitude $\mathcal{A}^{(1)}$. More generally, this is also true if $\Delta \Im(\ell)$ is a (finite) linear combination of terms with distinct homogeneity degree m. Notice that the argument still holds in the presence of the $i\epsilon$ terms that define the loop integration contour. Since a finite rescaling in ℓ could be accompanied by a rescaling of the ϵ 's, the argument above still applies. We assume explicitly that an $i\epsilon$ prescription exists for the new type of representation of the loop integrand. A natural prescription was proposed and checked in simple examples in [90], and it would be interesting to investigate its origin in the ambitwistor string, but we will not be concerned with this here.

The paper is organised as follows. We start in section 2 with a review of the BCJ and CHY structures at tree level and at one loop, including the one-loop CHY-type formulas derived from ambitwistor strings, which are the main ingredient for our results. In section 3, we present the algorithm to obtain one-loop BCJ numerators and give various examples. We describe several tests of the results for Yang-Mills theory in section 4, while also giving an explicit example of how to construct the loop integrand from the BCJ numerators. In section 5, we discuss the double copy to gravity, leading to formulae for both NS-NS gravity and pure gravity. To conclude, we summarise our results and comment on open questions in section 6.

2 Review

We start this section with brief reviews of the CHY representation of tree-level scattering amplitudes and of the BCJ colour-kinematics duality and double copy. The models underlying the simple and compact CHY formulae for amplitudes — two-dimensional chiral conformal field theories, known as ambitwistor strings [66] — naturally extend the scattering equation formalism to higher loop order. We review key formulae, as well as the specific representation of the loop integrand these models result in.

¹This statement follows from a change of variables $\ell \to \lambda \ell$, which cannot alter the result of the integral, but leads to $\int d^D \ell \Delta \mathfrak{I}(\ell)/\ell^2 \to \lambda^{D-2+m} \int d^D \ell \Delta \mathfrak{I}(\ell)/\ell^2$. In dimensional regularisation, $D \neq 2-m$, so the integral must vanish.

2.1 Tree-level amplitudes and BCJ numerators

The CHY representation of tree-level amplitudes. The Cachazo-He-Yuan (CHY) representation [63–65] expresses tree-level scattering amplitudes for n massless particles in D dimensions as integrals over the moduli space of a punctured Riemann sphere $\mathfrak{M}_{0,n}$,

$$\mathcal{A}_{n}^{(0)} = \int_{\mathfrak{M}_{0,n}} \mathrm{d}\mu_{0,n} \,\mathcal{I}\,, \qquad \qquad \mathrm{d}\mu_{0,n} \equiv \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{i}}{\mathrm{vol}\,\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C})} \,\prod_{i=1}^{n}{}'\,\delta\left(\sum_{j\neq i} \frac{k_{i} \cdot k_{j}}{\sigma_{ij}}\right), \qquad (2.1)$$

with $\sigma_i \in \mathbb{CP}^1$ and $\sigma_{ij} = \sigma_i - \sigma_j$. The measure $d\mu_{0,n}$ is universal to all massless scattering amplitudes and fully localises the moduli space integral onto the solutions of the so-called scattering equations² [63, 64]

$$E_i \equiv \sum_{j \neq i} \frac{k_i \cdot k_j}{\sigma_{ij}} = 0.$$
(2.2)

Both the scattering equations and the (theory-specific) integrand \mathcal{I} transform covariantly under Möbius transformations, in such a manner that the amplitude is invariant. Fixing this redundancy introduces the usual Jacobian and removes three redundant scattering equations (hence the prime in the formula). This leaves exactly $\dim_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathfrak{M}_{0,n}) = n - 3$ constraints, which fully localise the integral.

In all cases of interest studied so far, the CHY integrand \mathcal{I} exhibits a double-copy structure,

$$\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_L \, \mathcal{I}_R \,, \tag{2.3}$$

where the factors $\mathcal{I}_{L,R}$ depend explicitly on the marked points σ_i and on the scattering data, e.g. the null momenta k_i , the polarisation vectors ϵ_i , or the SU(N_c) colour indices a_i .³ A theory is thus specified by its building blocks \mathcal{I}_L and \mathcal{I}_R . While CHY representations have been given for a wide family of theories [23, 108], ranging from Einstein-Yang-Mills to effective scalar theories such as Born-Infeld or the non-linear sigma model, we focus here on the formulae for gravity and Yang-Mills theory:

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm YM} = \mathcal{I}_{\rm SU(N_c)} \, \mathcal{I}_{\rm kin} \,, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{I}_{\rm grav} = \mathcal{I}_{\rm kin} \, \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm kin} \,. \tag{2.4}$$

where the 'colour' and 'kinematic' integrand factors are given by

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{SU}(N_c)} = \sum_{\rho \in S_n / \mathbb{Z}_n} \frac{\operatorname{tr} \left(T^{\rho(a_1)} \dots T^{\rho(a_n)} \right)}{\sigma_{\rho(a_1)\rho(a_2)} \dots \sigma_{\rho(a_n)\rho(a_1)}},$$
(2.5a)

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm kin} = {\rm Pf}'(M) \equiv \frac{(-1)^{i+j}}{\sigma_{\hat{i}\hat{j}}} {\rm Pf}\left(M_{\hat{i}\hat{j}}^{\hat{i}\hat{j}}\right), \qquad \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm kin} = \mathcal{I}_{\rm kin}(\epsilon_i \to \tilde{\epsilon}_i).$$
(2.5b)

²These scattering equations also feature prominently in the high-energy scattering of strings [106]. See also [78] for more details on the relation to ambitwistor strings and the CHY formulae.

³Notice that the factorisation poles of the amplitudes are due to poles in σ_{ij} of the integrand \mathcal{I} , evaluated on solutions to the scattering equations; see e.g. [107]. The explicit dependence of \mathcal{I} on the Mandelstam variables is polynomial.

The sum in $\mathcal{I}_{SU(N_c)}$ runs over non-cyclic permutations, denoted by S_n/\mathbb{Z}_n . The $2n \times 2n$ antisymmetric matrix $M(\{k_i, \epsilon_i, \sigma_i\})$ defining \mathcal{I}_{kin} is determined by

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} A & -C^T \\ C & B \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.6a)$$

$$A_{ij} = \frac{k_i \cdot k_j}{\sigma_{ij}}, \qquad B_{ij} = \frac{\epsilon_i \cdot \epsilon_j}{\sigma_{ij}}, \qquad C_{ij} = \frac{\epsilon_i \cdot k_j}{\sigma_{ij}}, \qquad (2.6b)$$

$$A_{ii} = 0,$$
 $B_{ii} = 0,$ $C_{ii} = -\sum_{j \neq i} C_{ij}.$ (2.6c)

On solutions to the scattering equations (2.2), M has co-rank two,⁴ and thus Pf(M) = 0. However, an invariant quantity, the *reduced* Pfaffian Pf'(M), can be defined by removing any two rows and columns \hat{i} and \hat{j} such that $1 \leq \hat{i} < \hat{j} \leq n$, leading to \mathcal{I}_{kin} as given in eq. (2.5b).

The dependence of $\mathcal{I}_{\text{grav}}$ on two sets of polarisation vectors indicates that the scattering states have the polarisation tensors $\varepsilon_i^{\mu\nu} = \epsilon_i^{\mu} \tilde{\epsilon}_i^{\nu}$. The gravity theory described in this way is the theory of NS-NS gravity (the name is imported from string theory), describing gravitons, dilatons and (2-form) B-field states. At tree level, if the external states are restricted to describing gravitons (an appropriate symmetric and traceless linear combination of terms $\epsilon_i^{\mu} \tilde{\epsilon}_i^{\nu}$), then the scattering amplitudes coincide with those of pure Einstein gravity.

The colour-kinematics duality. The splitting of the CHY integrands into colour and kinematic factors in eq. (2.4) is highly suggestive of the Bern-Carrasco-Johansson (BCJ) colour-kinematics duality for gauge theory and the associated double copy to gravity [1]. To make the connection between the two more explicit, we should relate the CHY framework to the BCJ Feynman-like diagrams.

Our starting point is an expansion of the Yang-Mills amplitude into cubic diagrams Γ_{α} ,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm YM}^{(0)} = \sum_{\Gamma_{\alpha}} \frac{c_{\alpha} N_{\alpha}}{D_{\alpha}} \,, \tag{2.7}$$

where each term contributes with a colour factor c_{α} , a kinematic numerator N_{α} dependent on the external momenta and on the gluon polarisations,⁵ and a product $1/D_{\alpha}$ of scalar propagators of the cubic graph. The colour factors are composed of the structure constants f^{abc} of the Yang-Mills Lie algebra, and therefore obey Jacobi relations

$$c_{\alpha} \pm c_{\beta} \pm c_{\gamma} = 0, \qquad (2.8)$$

for suitable choices of (α, β, γ) and signs. The colour-kinematics duality [1] then ascertains that there exists a dual set of kinematic numerators N_{α} satisfying the same relations,

$$N_{\alpha} \pm N_{\beta} \pm N_{\gamma} = 0. \tag{2.9}$$

⁴Its kernel is spanned by the vectors $(1, \ldots, 1, 0, \ldots, 0)$ and $(\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n, 0, \ldots, 0)$.

 $^{{}^{5}}$ In this paper, we will only consider the scattering of gluons. More generally, we could also consider matter states, e.g. in supersymmetric gauge theories.

Kinematic numerators satisfying eq. (2.9) whenever the corresponding colour factors satisfy eq. (2.8) are known as BCJ numerators, and will be the central object of interest throughout this article. An important point is that this set of numerators is non-unique, i.e. there exist different choices giving the same amplitude. We will see later that this statement also applies at one loop. The loop-level conjecture of the colour-kinematics duality is the straightforward extension of the statement above, but applied to the loop integrand expressed in terms of cubic diagrams, where the kinematic numerators and the propagators depend on the loop momenta [2].

Given a set of BCJ numerators from Yang-Mills theory, a gravity amplitude is obtained straightforwardly via the BCJ double copy [1]: we substitute the colour factors in (2.7) by another set of Yang-Mills numerators,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{grav}}^{(0)} = \sum_{\Gamma_{\alpha}} \frac{N_{\alpha} \, \tilde{N}_{\alpha}}{D_{\alpha}} \,, \qquad \tilde{N}_{\alpha} = N_{\alpha} (\epsilon_i \to \tilde{\epsilon}_i) \,. \tag{2.10}$$

The external states in the gravity amplitude have the polarisation tensors $\varepsilon_i^{\mu\nu} = \epsilon_i^{\mu} \tilde{\epsilon}_i^{\nu}$, exactly as we discussed before for the corresponding CHY formula.

We can consider the BCJ structure starting from an alternative decomposition of the colour dependence of the gauge theory amplitude, in terms of colour traces,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{YM}}^{(0)} = \sum_{\rho \in S_n / \mathbb{Z}_n} A_{\mathrm{YM}}(\rho(a_1), \dots, \rho(a_n)) \operatorname{tr} \left(T^{\rho(a_1)} \dots T^{\rho(a_n)} \right) .$$
(2.11)

The existence of numerator relations (2.9) is then equivalent to the fact that the partial amplitudes $A_{\rm YM}$ satisfy the BCJ relations [1],⁶

$$\sum_{j=2}^{n} k_1 \cdot k_{23\dots j} A_{\rm YM}(2, 3, \dots, j, 1, j+1, \dots, n) = 0, \qquad k_{i\dots j} = \sum_{a=i}^{j} k_a.$$
(2.12)

In the CHY framework, these relations emerge elegantly as relations among the Parke-Taylor factors appearing in (2.5a) [63, 101],

$$\sum_{j=2}^{n} \frac{k_1 \cdot k_{23\dots j}}{\sigma_{23} \dots \sigma_{j1} \sigma_{1\,j+1} \dots \sigma_{n2}} = 0, \quad \text{mod } E_i, \qquad (2.13)$$

that is, on the support of the scattering equations (2.2). This short and elegant implementation of the BCJ relations should serve as a first indication that the BCJ numerators N_{α} can also be derived effectively from the scattering-equations formalism.

The principal idea for deriving numerators satisfying eq. (2.9) from the CHY formulae, following [103] and building on earlier work [65, 109, 110], is to expand both the Yang-Mills amplitude and the gravity amplitude in a Dixon-Del Duca-Maltoni (DDM) half-ladder basis [111],

$$\mathcal{A}_{\rm YM} = \sum_{\rho \in S_{n-2}} c(1,\rho,n) \, A_{\rm YM}(1,\rho,n) \,, \tag{2.14a}$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\text{grav}} = \sum_{\rho \in S_{n-2}} N(1, \rho, n) A_{\text{YM}}(1, \rho, n) , \qquad (2.14b)$$

⁶These relations appear in string theory as monodromy relations [4, 5].



Figure 1. The tree-level BCJ master numerators $N(1, \rho(2, ..., n-1), n)$, correspond to half-ladder diagrams with legs 1 and n at opposite endpoints.



Figure 2. Example at 4 points of how a diagram relates to master diagrams via Jacobi relations. This equation applies to both the colour factors and (by definition) the BCJ numerators associated to the diagrams.

where both the colour factors

$$c(1,\rho,n) = f^{a_1 a_{\rho(2)} b_1} f^{b_1 a_{\rho(3)} b_2} \cdots f^{b_{n-3} a_{\rho(n-1)} a_n}, \quad \text{with} \quad [T^a, T^b] = f^{abc} T^c$$

and the kinematic numerators $N(1, \rho, n)$ are associated with cubic diagrams forming a 'half-ladder'; see figure 1. If this can be achieved, the amplitudes satisfy the double-copy structure, since the gravity amplitude $\mathcal{A}_{\text{grav}}$ is constructed from the gauge theory amplitude \mathcal{A}_{YM} by replacing the colour factors $c(1, \rho, n)$ by kinematic numerators $N(1, \rho, n)$. The numerators of DDM half-ladder diagrams are known as *master numerators*, since the numerators of any other cubic diagram can be obtained from these via the Jacobi-type relations (2.9); this mirrors the analogous statement for colour factors, as in figure 2. The colour-kinematics duality is thus satisfied by construction.

The challenge is then to decompose the gravity amplitude into Yang-Mills amplitudes (2.14b). In the CHY language, this can be achieved by rewriting the 'colour' (2.5a) and 'kinematic' (2.5b) integrand factors [65],⁷

$$\mathcal{I}_{SU(N_c)} = \sum_{\rho \in S_{n-2}} \frac{c(1,\rho,n)}{\sigma_{1\rho(2)} \,\sigma_{\rho(2)\rho(3)} \cdots \sigma_{\rho(n-1)n} \,\sigma_{n1}}, \qquad (2.15a)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{kin}} = \Pr'(M) = \sum_{\rho \in S_{n-2}} \frac{N(1,\rho,n)}{\sigma_{1\rho(2)} \,\sigma_{\rho(2)\rho(3)} \cdots \sigma_{\rho(n-1)n} \,\sigma_{n1}}, \quad \text{mod } E_i.$$
(2.15b)

Notice that neither the colour factors $c(1, \rho, n)$ nor the kinematic numerators $N(1, \rho, n)$ depend on the punctures σ_i . While there exist several distinct choices of numerators achieving this goal, we will focus our attention on a recent construction of [103]; see also the closely related work [112]. By definition, the Pfaffian is a product over closed cycles, and this structure can be exploited to find a convenient Ansatz for a recursive expansion. In [103], Fu, Du, Huang and Feng demonstrate beautifully that the parameters in such an Ansatz

⁷The so-called KLT orthogonality guarantees that such an expansion exists, [63, 102]. A prior version of this type of decomposition, valid for a (pure spinor) supersymmetrised version of the Pfaffian, was given in [9].

are completely fixed by the requirement of gauge invariance, and derive a surprisingly simple algorithm for all tree-level BCJ numerators. Instead of reviewing here their tree-level algorithm, we will describe it in our one-loop construction in section 3.

2.2 One-loop integrands from ambitwistor strings

The existence of the remarkably simple CHY representation of the S-matrix is elegantly explained by ambitwistor strings [66, 69, 113] — chiral worldsheet models with an auxiliary target space, the space of complex null geodesics. Ambitwistor string correlation functions give rise to the CHY representation of scattering amplitudes, and the physical understanding provided by the underlying CFT has been crucial in extending the scattering equations formalism to loop level [77, 80–82].

In the genus expansion of the ambitwistor string, g-loop amplitudes are represented by integrals over the moduli space of punctured genus-g Riemann surfaces $\mathfrak{M}_{g,n}$. Specialising to one loop, the loop integrand⁸ is thus given by an integral over the punctures, as well as the fundamental domain of the modular parameter τ of the torus. While conceptually simple, the mathematical framework on higher genus Riemann surfaces is computationally challenging and obscures the relative simplicity of the expected loop integrand.

Due to modular invariance, however, the support of the one-loop scattering equations localises the τ integral on the cusp or non-separating degeneration $\tau \to i\infty$, [80, 81]. On the resulting nodal Riemann sphere, one-loop amplitudes take the following form:

$$\mathcal{A}_{n}^{(1)} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{D}\ell}{\ell^{2}} \int_{\mathfrak{M}_{0,n+2}} \mathrm{d}\mu_{1,n}^{(\mathrm{nod})} \mathcal{I}^{(1)}, \qquad \qquad \mathrm{d}\mu_{1,n}^{(\mathrm{nod})} \equiv \frac{\prod_{a} \mathrm{d}\sigma_{a}}{\mathrm{vol}\,\mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{C})} \prod_{a} {}^{\prime}\delta\left(E_{a}^{(\mathrm{nod})}\right). \tag{2.16}$$

In eq. (2.16), a runs over all external particles as well as the two parameters describing the node, σ_+ and σ_- , corresponding to the insertions of $+\ell$ and $-\ell$ respectively. The nodal scattering equations $E_a^{(nod)}$ in the measure $d\mu_{1,n}^{(nod)}$ bear a remarkable similarity to the tree-level scattering equations for n + 2 particles,

$$E_{+}^{(\text{nod})} \equiv \sum_{i} \frac{\ell \cdot k_{i}}{\sigma_{+i}}, \qquad (2.17a)$$

$$E_{-}^{(\text{nod})} \equiv -\sum_{i} \frac{\ell \cdot k_{i}}{\sigma_{-i}}, \qquad (2.17b)$$

$$E_i^{(\text{nod})} \equiv \frac{k_i \cdot \ell}{\sigma_{i+}} - \frac{k_i \cdot \ell}{\sigma_{i-}} + \sum_{j \neq i} \frac{k_i \cdot k_j}{\sigma_{ij}} \,. \tag{2.17c}$$

In fact, the nodal measure may be written compactly as

$$d\mu_{1,n}^{(\text{nod})} = d\mu_{0,n+2} \big|_{\tilde{\ell}^2 = 0}, \qquad (2.18)$$

with two additional particles with back-to-back on-shell momenta $\pm \tilde{\ell}$. This on-shell momentum $\tilde{\ell}$ relates to the loop momentum ℓ as $\tilde{\ell} = \ell + \eta$, where η satisfies $\ell \cdot \eta = k_i \cdot \eta = \epsilon_i \cdot \eta = 0$ and $\eta^2 = -\ell^2$; so η can be thought of as a higher-dimensional contribution. Therefore, if

⁸The full amplitude moreover involves an integration over the loop momentum ℓ .

 $\mathcal{I}^{(1)}$ depends on the loop momentum only via $\ell \cdot k_i$ and $\ell \cdot \epsilon_i$, we have $\mathcal{I}^{(1)}(\ell) = \mathcal{I}^{(1)}(\tilde{\ell})$. We will see below that this interpretation in terms of n + 2 on-shell particles has immediate consequences for the representation of the loop integrand, and plays an important role in the construction of the BCJ numerators.

It is worth highlighting that while the genus-one representation of the amplitude has so far only been achieved for type II supergravity (sugra) and only in the critical dimension D = 10, the one-loop formalism based on the nodal Riemann sphere can be applied to a variety of theories in any dimension D. In fact, this formalism was used in [80] for super-Yang-Mills (sYM) theory and in [81] for gravity and gauge theory in a variety of dimensions and degrees of supersymmetry, even though a genus-one ambitwistor string representation is not known (or perhaps even expected to exist) for such theories. Moreover, there is strong evidence for the validity of its higher-genus extension [82], representing g-loop amplitudes as integrals over the moduli space of punctured g-nodal Riemann spheres.

Similarly to tree level, there is a factorisation $\mathcal{I}^{(1)} = \mathcal{I}_L^{(1)} \mathcal{I}_R^{(1)}$ in the theories of interest that have been explored so far. The fundamental building blocks for the one-loop integrands of Yang-Mills theory and gravity are given by the following colour and kinematic integrand factors [81]

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{SU}(N_c)}^{(1)} = \sum_{\rho \in S_n} \frac{\operatorname{tr}\left(T^{\rho(a_1)} \dots T^{\rho(a_n)}\right)}{\sigma_{+\rho(1)}\sigma_{\rho(1)\,\rho(2)} \dots \sigma_{\rho(n)} - \sigma_{-+}} + \text{double-trace terms}, \qquad (2.19a)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{susy}^{(1)} = \mathcal{I}_{NS}^{(1)} + \mathcal{I}_{R}^{(1)}$$
 (2.19b)

The ambitwistor-string origin of these expressions allows for the identification of contributions from individual GSO sectors, as well as the scalar contribution (following a similar analysis in the string literature [114]),

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} = \sum_{r} {\rm Pf}'(M_{\rm NS}^{r}), \qquad \mathcal{I}_{\rm R}^{(1)} = -\frac{c_D}{(\sigma_{+-})^2} {\rm Pf}(M_2), \qquad \mathcal{I}_{\rm scal}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{(\sigma_{+-})^2} {\rm Pf}(M_3).$$
(2.20)

Here, c_D is a dimension-dependent constant,⁹ and the matrices M_{α} for $\alpha = 2, 3$ (stemming from the different spin structures (0,0) and (1,0)) are defined similarly to eq. (2.6) by

$$M_{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} A & -C^T \\ C & B \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.21a)$$

$$A_{ij} = k_i \cdot k_j S_\alpha(\sigma_{ij}), \quad B_{ij} = \epsilon_i \cdot \epsilon_j S_\alpha(\sigma_{ij}), \quad C_{ij} = \epsilon_i \cdot k_j S_\alpha(\sigma_{ij}), \quad (2.21b)$$

$$A_{ii} = 0, \qquad B_{ii} = 0, \qquad C_{ii} = -\sum_{j \neq i} \frac{\epsilon_i \cdot k_j}{\sigma_{ij}} - \frac{\epsilon_i \cdot \ell}{\sigma_{i+}} + \frac{\epsilon_i \cdot \ell}{\sigma_{i-}}. \quad (2.21c)$$

with $S_3 = \sigma_{ij}^{-1}$ and $S_2 = \sigma_{ij}^{-1} \left(\sqrt{\frac{\sigma_i + \sigma_{j-}}{\sigma_i - \sigma_{j+}}} + \sqrt{\frac{\sigma_i - \sigma_{j+}}{\sigma_i + \sigma_{j-}}} \right)$. As discussed above, these integrands only depend on the loop momentum via $\ell \cdot k_i$ and $\ell \cdot \epsilon_i$, and hence $\mathcal{I}^{(1)}(\ell) = \mathcal{I}^{(1)}(\tilde{\ell})$. The

⁹The dimensional reduction of 8 Majorana-Weyl spinors in D = 10 leads to $c_{10} = 8$, $c_8 = 8$, $c_6 = 2$ and $c_4 = 2$.

NS integrand $\mathcal{I}_{NS}^{(1)}$ therefore manifests the interpretation of adding two additional particles with back-to-back momenta $\pm \tilde{\ell}$ with $\tilde{\ell} = \ell + \eta$,

$$M_{\rm NS}^r = M_{n+2}^{\rm tree} \bigg|_{\tilde{\ell}^2 = 0, \ \epsilon_+ = \epsilon^r, \ \epsilon_- = (\epsilon^r)^\dagger} .$$

$$(2.22)$$

and the sum runs over a basis ϵ^r of polarisation vectors for the two additional particles. The completeness relation for this basis, defined via $\epsilon^r \cdot q = 0$ for a null q, is

$$\sum_{r=1}^{D-2} \epsilon_{\mu}^{r} (\epsilon^{r})_{\nu}^{\dagger} = \eta_{\mu\nu} - \frac{k_{\mu}q_{\nu} + k_{\nu}q_{\mu}}{k \cdot q} \equiv \Delta_{\mu\nu} .$$
 (2.23)

We can produce the substitutions

$$\sum_{r} \epsilon_{+} \cdot \epsilon_{-} = D - 2, \qquad \sum_{r} (\epsilon_{+} \cdot v) \left(\epsilon_{-} \cdot w\right) = \Delta_{\mu\nu} v^{\mu} w^{\nu} \rightsquigarrow v \cdot w, \qquad (2.24)$$

where in the second equation we are allowed to drop the q-dependent term in $\Delta_{\mu\nu}$, since its contribution vanishes on the solutions to the scattering equations; see [83]. These substitutions will later allow us to obtain n-particle one-loop BCJ numerators from (n+2)particle tree-level BCJ numerators.

As at tree level, the Yang-Mills and gravity integrands, given here with and without supersymmetry, exhibit the double-copy relation:

$$\mathcal{I}_{\text{sYM}}^{(1)} = \mathcal{I}_{\text{SU}(N_c)}^{(1)} \mathcal{I}_{\text{susy}}^{(1)}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{I}_{\text{sugra}}^{(1)} = \mathcal{I}_{\text{susy}}^{(1)} \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{susy}}^{(1)}, \qquad (2.25a)$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm YM}^{(1)} = \mathcal{I}_{\rm SU(N_c)}^{(1)} \, \mathcal{I}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} \,, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{I}_{\rm NS-NS}^{(1)} = \mathcal{I}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} \, \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} \,. \qquad (2.25b)$$

In the case of NS-NS gravity, we have the graviton, dilaton and B-field states running in the loop. If we want to obtain pure gravity, with only the graviton states in the loop, we must subtract the dilaton and B-field contributions. This is particularly easy in D = 4, since the B-field has a single degree of freedom, the axion, and therefore it suffices to subtract the contribution of two scalars running in the loop,

$$\mathcal{I}_{4\text{D-pure-grav}}^{(1)} = \mathcal{I}_{\text{NS}}^{(1)} \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{NS}}^{(1)} - 2 \mathcal{I}_{\text{scal}}^{(1)} \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{scal}}^{(1)} .$$
(2.26)

New representation of the loop integrand. One feature of this scattering-equations based representation particularly worth highlighting is that it gives rise to a non-standard representation of the loop integrand:¹⁰ after carrying out the integration over the moduli space $\mathfrak{M}_{0,n+2}$, the integrand contains poles linear in ℓ not immediately recognisable as the conventional loop propagators $(\ell + K)^2$.

However, there is a simple prescription to obtain such a representation from a standard loop integrand. The method is particularly easy to illustrate for numerators independent of

¹⁰In fact, this can already be observed from the general form of the amplitude given in eq. (2.16) and eq. (2.17) by simply counting powers of the loop-momentum. Since all scattering equations in eq. (2.17) are linear in ℓ , all propagators will be as well, and the only quadratic power comes from the overall ℓ^{-2} . See [107] at tree level and [81] at one loop for details on this argument using factorisation.



Figure 3. Diagrammatic depiction: interpretation of the \Im representation of loop integrands as (n+2)-particle tree diagrams.

 ℓ^2 [80]. In that case, a loop integrand representation I_{lin} of the type appearing in eq. (2.16) can be derived from a standard 'quadratic' representation I_{qdr} via repeated partial fraction identities of the form

$$\frac{1}{\prod_{a} D_{a}} = \sum_{a} \frac{1}{D_{a} \prod_{b \neq a} (D_{b} - D_{a})}, \quad \text{where } D_{a} = (\ell + K_{a})^{2} \text{ and } K_{a} = \sum_{i \in I_{a}} k_{i}, \quad (2.27)$$

and shifts in the loop momentum $\ell \to \ell - K_a$ (differently for each term in the partial fraction expansion), to obtain the overall factor ℓ^{-2} . These partial fraction identities are in fact a special case of a more widely applicable contour integral argument [90]: to relate the different representations for general numerators¹¹ $N(\ell, \ell^2)$, we shift the loop momentum in the standard representation I_{qdr} by $\ell \to \tilde{\ell} = \ell + \eta$ (cf. eq. (2.22) and eq. (2.18)), where $\ell \cdot \eta = k_i \cdot \eta = \epsilon_i \cdot \eta = 0$, such that the Lorentz invariants are unaffected except for $\ell^2 \to \ell^2 + \eta^2 \equiv \ell^2 + \zeta$. The integrand is then naturally written as the residue at $\zeta = 0$. Applying the Cauchy residue theorem, and shifting individual terms by $\ell \to \ell - K_a$ as above, then yields I_{lin} :

$$I_{qdr} = \sum_{\Gamma} \frac{N(\ell, \ell^2)}{\prod_{a \in \Gamma} D_a} \quad \rightsquigarrow \quad I_{lin} = \frac{1}{\ell^2} \sum_{\Gamma} \sum_{a \in \Gamma} \frac{N(\ell - K_a, -2\ell \cdot K_a + K_a^2)}{\prod_{b \neq a} (D_b - D_a) \Big|_{\ell \to \ell - K_a}} = \frac{1}{\ell^2} \Im, \quad (2.28)$$

up to terms integrating to zero in dimensional regularisation; hence \Im does not depend on ℓ^2 . It is easy to check that the denominator factors in \Im take the form $2\ell \cdot K + K^2$, where K is a sum of external momenta. The sum over different propagators a on the right-hand side of eq. (2.28) has an intuitive interpretation as different ways of 'cutting open' the loop in the diagram, and each term can be associated to a tree-diagram involving the (on-shell) momentum $\tilde{\ell}$; see figure 3.

We discuss an explicit example of the above prescription for changing the representation of the loop integrand from I_{qdr} to I_{lin} in section 4.

While non-standard, this novel representation of the loop integrand has several remarkable properties, as we will see below in detail:

• First and foremost, it facilitates a straightforward extension of tree-level results to loop-level. This is particularly evident in the construction of the BCJ numerators below, cf. section 3.2, but has also been implicitly used above in writing down the integrands (2.25) for Yang-Mills and gravity.

¹¹For readability, we keep the dependence on ℓ^2 explicit. By the first argument in $N(\ell, \ell^2)$ we mean the ℓ dependence of the type $\ell \cdot k_i$ or $\ell \cdot \epsilon_i$.

- Moreover, it manifests symmetry properties that are either obscured or absent in the usual representation. In particular, while the construction of local BCJ numerators on quadratic propagators faces serious obstacles for six external particles at one loop [50, 62], these difficulties are absent in this representation of the integrand; see also [104, 105].
- As a last point, several checks on the amplitude are substantially simplified in this framework, and we exploit this in section 4. Recall the discussion below (1.1) about terms in the integrand that integrate to zero due to scaling with ℓ , and consider also the form of \Im in (2.28). The numerators are polynomials in $\ell \cdot k_i$ and $\ell \cdot \epsilon_i$, and the linear propagator factors always take the form $1/(2\ell \cdot K + K^2)$, where K is a sum of external momenta. Therefore, only terms with at least one propagator factor for which $K^2 \neq 0$ can contribute after the loop integration. In particular, any term for n = 2 and n = 3 must vanish upon integration because the Mandelstam variables are trivial.

Notice, however, that while it is straightforward to go from the quadratic propagators to the linear ones in the new representation, as shown in (2.28), the converse is not true. To our knowledge, there is no general algorithm to go in the opposite direction starting from contributions with linear propagators.

Refs. [115, 116] have explored the use of the scattering equations formalism to directly produce quadratic propagators at loop level, at the price of more elaborate CHY-type expressions. It would be interesting to know whether this idea can be efficiently applied to gauge theory and gravity, and whether it has a simple interpretation from the point of view of ambitwistor strings.

3 One-loop BCJ numerators

The main advantage of the CHY representation (2.16) and the resulting integrand \Im lies in its simplicity: effectively, it has the complexity of an (n + 2)-particle on-shell treeamplitude. This close similarity makes it possible to easily extend tree-level results to loop level. In this section, we use this relation to derive an algorithm for all-multiplicity BCJ numerators, building on the corresponding work at tree level in [103].

3.1 Derivation from ambitwistor strings

Just as at tree level, the BCJ relations embed straightforwardly into the ambitwistor-string setting. For instance,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{\ell \cdot k_{12\dots j}}{\sigma_{12}\dots\sigma_{j+}\sigma_{+(j+1)}\dots\sigma_{n-}\sigma_{-1}} = 0, \quad \text{mod } E_a^{(\text{nod})},$$
(3.1)

as shown in [104]. Since the colour/kinematic duality consistency relations are naturally satisfied on the support of the scattering equations, we can follow the same main idea as at tree-level to derive the one-loop BCJ numerators.



Figure 4. The one-loop BCJ master numerators $N(1, \rho(2, ..., n-1), n)$ correspond to half-ladder diagrams with legs + and - at opposite endpoints.

Our goal is therefore to expand both the Yang-Mills integrand \Im_{YM} and the gravity integrand \Im_{grav} in a DDM half-ladder basis,

$$\Im_{\mathrm{YM}} = \sum_{\rho \in S_n} c(+,\rho,-) \Im_{\mathrm{YM}}(+,\rho,-) , \qquad (3.2a)$$

$$\Im_{\text{grav}} = \sum_{\rho \in S_n} N(+, \rho, -) \Im_{\text{YM}}(+\rho, -) , \qquad (3.2b)$$

where the factors $\Im_{YM}(+, \rho, -)$ are colour-ordered Yang-Mills integrands. Both the colour factors,

$$c(+,\rho,-) = f^{a_+a_{\rho(1)}b_1} f^{b_1a_{\rho(2)}b_2} \cdots f^{b_{n-1}a_{\rho(n)}a_-} \delta^{a_+a_-},$$

and the kinematic numerators $N(+, \rho, -)$ are associated to half-ladder diagrams with legs + and - at opposite endpoints; see figure 4. This expansion naturally manifests the double-copy structure, now at the level of the one-loop integrand. As at tree level, the kinematic numerators $N(+, \rho, -)$ in (3.2b) are known as the (one-loop) master numerators, and all numerators for other cubic diagrams follow from the requirement of colour-kinematic duality (2.9).

Rephrasing the above expansion in terms of the ambitwistor string integrands $\mathcal{I}^{(1)}$, eq. (3.2) is equivalent to

$$\mathcal{I}_{SU(N_c)}^{(1)} = \sum_{\rho \in S_n} \frac{c(+,\rho,-)}{\sigma_{+\rho(1)} \dots \sigma_{\rho(n)} - \sigma_{-+}},$$
(3.3a)

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} = \sum_{r} {\rm Pf}'(M_{\rm NS}^{r}) = \sum_{\rho \in S_n} \frac{N(+,\rho,-)}{\sigma_{+\rho(1)} \dots \sigma_{\rho(n)} - \sigma_{-+}}, \quad \text{mod } E_a^{(\rm nod)}.$$
(3.3b)

Crucially, the extension of KLT orthogonality [63, 102] to one loop [104, 105] guarantees that this expansion of the Pfaffian into loop partial integrands exists. However, determining the coefficients N is far from trivial, since (3.3b) relies on the support of the scattering equations. Different strategies have been used at tree level and at one loop, including the use of cross-rational identities [96], of a differential operator for residues [117, 118], and of the forward limit for the CHY-type loop integrand in supersymmetric theories [105].

The strategy we will implement here is to first use the definition of the (reduced) Pfaffian to expand the gravity loop integrand $\mathcal{I}_{\rm NS-NS}^{(1)}$ into a sum over simpler Pfaffians with purely kinematic prefactors. In turn, the expansion of these Pfaffians into pure Yang-

Mills integrands is well known, [103], and can be obtained by expanding recursively and fixing the expansion coefficients by gauge invariance.¹²

As a starting point, recall the definition of the (CHY) Pfaffian as a sum over permutations 13

$$\operatorname{Pf}\left(M_{\operatorname{NS}}^{r}\right) = \sum_{\rho \in S_{n+2}} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\rho)} \frac{M_{I}M_{J}\dots M_{K}}{\sigma_{I}\sigma_{J}\dots\sigma_{K}}.$$
(3.4)

Above, I, J and K denote closed cycles determined by the permutation, and the coefficients are given by

$$M_{I} = tr(I) := tr(F_{i_{1}} \dots F_{i_{n_{I}}}), \qquad \sigma_{I} = \sigma_{i_{1}i_{2}}\sigma_{i_{2}i_{3}} \dots \sigma_{i_{n_{I}}i_{1}}, \qquad \text{for } n_{I} > 1, \qquad (3.5a)$$

$$M_I = C_{ii}$$
, $\sigma_I = 1$, for $n_I = 1$, (3.5b)

with $n_I = \text{length}(I)$ and $F_i^{\mu\nu} = k_i^{\mu}\epsilon_i^{\nu} - k_i^{\nu}\epsilon_i^{\mu}$. For readability, we have used the notation $k_+ = -k_- = \ell$ and $\epsilon_+ = \epsilon^r$, $\epsilon_- = (\epsilon^r)^{\dagger}$. Eq. (3.4) immediately generalizes to the reduced Pfaffian $\mathcal{I}_{\text{NS}}^{(1)}$,

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} \equiv \sum_{r} {\rm Pf}'(M_{\rm NS}^{r}) = \sum_{\rho \in S_{n+2}^{+-}} (-1)^{{\rm sgn}(\rho)} \frac{W_I M_J \dots M_K}{\sigma_I \sigma_J \dots \sigma_K} \,.$$
(3.6)

In an important distinction from eq. (3.4), I now denotes the open cycle determined by the choice of removed rows and columns \hat{i}, \hat{j} in the definition of the reduced Pfaffian (2.5b), and S_{n+2}^{+-} indicates that we are only summing over permutations exchanging + and - or keeping them fixed. A convenient choice for \hat{i} and \hat{j} are the rows and columns associated to the loop momentum ℓ . With $\hat{i} = \sigma_+$ and $\hat{j} = \sigma_-$, the coefficient W_I of the open cycle Iis given by

$$W_I = \sum_r \epsilon^r \cdot F_{i_1} \dots F_{i_{n_I}} \cdot (\epsilon^r)^{\dagger} = \begin{cases} \operatorname{tr} \left(F_{i_1} \dots F_{i_{n_I}} \right) & \text{for } n_I > 0, \\ D - 2 & \text{for } n_I = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

where we have explicitly carried out the sum over the basis of polarisation vectors for the loop momenta, according to (2.24).

By decomposing the sum in S_{n+2}^{+-} , the NS-integrand $\mathcal{I}_{NS}^{(1)}$ thus becomes

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} = \sum_{I} \left(\sum_{\rho \in S_{I}^{+-}} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\rho)} \frac{W_{I}}{\sigma_{I}} \right) \left(\sum_{\bar{\rho} \in S_{\bar{I}}} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\bar{\rho})} \frac{M_{J} \dots M_{K}}{\sigma_{J} \dots \sigma_{K}} \right) \\
= \sum_{I} \sum_{\rho \in S_{I}^{+-}} (-1)^{\operatorname{sgn}(\rho)} W_{I} \frac{\operatorname{Pf}(M_{\bar{I}})}{\sigma_{I}} .$$
(3.8)

¹²At tree-level, the Pfaffians obtained in the expansion coincide with the single-trace contribution to the Einstein-Yang-Mills amplitude. We will see below that a suitable generalisation holds at one loop as well.

¹³This representation of the CHY Pfaffian is easy to derive from the ambitwistor string, where all fermions in the vertex operators have to be contracted. With two fermions in each vertex operator, the sum over Wick contractions is equivalent to a sum over all contraction cycles. Using the equivalence between permutations and the product of cycles corresponding to the orbits of that permutation leads directly to eq. (3.4). Alternatively, eq. (3.4) can be derived directly from writing the Pfaffian as a sum over perfect matchings: since A_{ij} , B_{ij} and C_{ij} all involve factors of $1/\sigma_{ij}$, perfect matchings exchanging these terms can be combined into cycles. See e.g. [119] for an explicit discussion at tree level.

In the last line, we have used the definition (3.4) to rewrite the sum over permutations $S_{\bar{I}}$ as a Pfaffian over a matrix we denote by $M_{\bar{I}}$.¹⁴ To relate this representation of the integrand $\mathcal{I}^{(1)}$ to the half-ladder form of eq. (3.2b), we need to express the Pfaffian Pf $(M_{\bar{I}})/\sigma_{I}$ as a sum over (n+2)-particle Parke-Taylor factors with kinematic coefficients $\tilde{Y}_{\bar{I}}$. The full BCJ numerators are then given by

$$N(+,\rho,-) = \sum_{I} W_{I} \tilde{Y}_{\bar{I}}.$$
(3.9)

A procedure for obtaining these kinematic factors $\tilde{Y}_{\bar{I}}$ has been developed in [103], and we refer the interested reader to the original paper for details of the derivation. A point worth highlighting is that the factors $\tilde{Y}_{\bar{I}}$ are extracted from the Pfaffian Pf $(M_{\bar{I}})/\sigma_I$ recursively, and thus depend on an (arbitrary) reference ordering RO. The set of BCJ numerators is therefore non-unique. The final amplitudes are of course invariant with respect to this choice.

Since both the one-loop measure (2.18) and the integrand (2.22) structurally resemble (n + 2)-particle tree-amplitudes, the algorithm for $\tilde{Y}_{\bar{I}}$ generalizes straightforwardly from tree-level to one loop, and we summarize the procedure in the next subsection 3.2.

3.2 Algorithm for master numerators

We have seen in the last subsection how BCJ master numerators can be derived in the scattering-equations formalism at one loop. Below, we summarise the resulting algorithm and discuss several examples. In section 4, we will see an example of how to construct the full loop integrand from the BCJ numerators.

Following section 3.1, the master numerators are given by half-ladder diagrams, with the loop momenta $\pm \ell$ forming the 'handles' of the half-ladder; see figure 4. They are therefore characterised unambiguously by a *colour ordering*

$$CO = (+a_1a_2...a_n-),$$
 (3.10)

where a_1 is the left-most particle next to $+\ell$. As discussed in section 3.1, the kinematic factors $\tilde{Y}_{\bar{I}}$ are obtained recursively, which corresponds to

(I) Fixing a *reference ordering* (RO) to be used in the definition of all numerators, independently of their colour ordering. For example,

$$RO = (+12...n-).$$
(3.11)

To keep the algorithm and the formulae compact, it will be useful to introduce a notation for 'particle *i* is to the left of particle *j* in a given colour or reference ordering'. We denote this by $i \triangleleft j$ (CO) and $i \dashv j$ (RO), respectively; see table 1.

¹⁴The Pfaffian Pf $(M_{\bar{I}})/\sigma_I$ can be identified as the single-trace contribution to the Einstein-Yang-Mills (EYM) one-loop integrand $\mathcal{I}_{\text{EYM}}^{(1),\text{gluon},n_{\text{tr}}=1}$ with gluons running in the loop [120]. This directly extends the tree-level results of [103].

	relation	'particle i is to the left of particle j in a given'				
$i \triangleleft j$ colour ordering		colour ordering				
	$i\dashv j$	reference ordering				
$i \prec j$ split ordering		split ordering				

Table 1. Notation for colour-ordering, reference-ordering and split-ordering relations.

The master numerators (3.9) (and in particular $\tilde{Y}_{\bar{I}}$) naturally depend on both the colour ordering and the global choice of reference ordering. This dependence is best expressed in the form of *split orderings*, defined to encode the difference between the two orderings. They can be constructed as follows:

- (II) Decompose the set of all particles into a colour-ordered subset I and its complement \overline{I} . For \overline{I} , then construct all disjoint decompositions into R subsets $\alpha^{(r)}$ satisfying the following criteria:¹⁵
 - (i) $\overline{I} = \bigcup_{r=1}^{R} \alpha^{(r)}$.
 - (ii) Each subset $\alpha^{(r)}$ respects the colour ordering:

$$\forall_{i < j} \ \alpha_i^{(r)} \triangleleft \alpha_j^{(r)} \,. \tag{3.12}$$

(iii) The last elements of the subsets respect the reference ordering. Using again the notation $n_I = \text{length}(I)$, and $n_r = \text{length}(\alpha^{(r)})$, this can be compactly written as

$$\alpha_{n_1}^{(1)} \dashv \ldots \dashv \alpha_{n_R}^{(t)}. \tag{3.13}$$

(iv) The last element of the subset is the smallest in the reference ordering. No ordering among the other elements is assumed; indeed the ordering is fixed by (ii).

$$\forall_i \ \alpha_{n_r}^{(r)} \dashv \alpha_i^{(r)} \,. \tag{3.14}$$

For any decomposition $\overline{I} = \bigcup_r \alpha^{(r)}$ satisfying these criteria, the *split ordering* (SO) is defined as

$$SO = \left(+ I \,\alpha^{(1)} \,\dots \,\alpha^{(R)} - \right) \,. \tag{3.15}$$

As above, it will be convenient to introduce the notation $i \prec j$ to mean 'particle *i* is to the left of particle *j* in the split ordering', cf. table 1.

(III) Using these definitions, the master numerators are given by

$$N_{\rm RO}(a_1 a_2 \dots a_n) = \sum_I (-1)^{n_I} W_I\left(\sum_{\rm SO} \prod_r Y\left(\alpha^{(r)}\right)\right), \qquad (3.16)$$

¹⁵For readability, we choose to identify the subsets by raised indices, and their elements by lowered ones.

where the sum runs over split orderings $SO = (+ I \alpha^{(1)} \dots \alpha^{(R)} -)$ and

$$W_{I \neq \emptyset} = \operatorname{tr}(I) := \operatorname{tr}(F_{i_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot F_{i_{n_I}}), \qquad W_{\emptyset} = D - 2, \qquad (3.17)$$

$$Y\left(\alpha^{(r)}\right) = \begin{cases} \epsilon_a \cdot Z_a & \alpha^{(r)} = \{a\}\\ \epsilon_{a_{n_r}} \cdot F_{a_{(n_r-1)}} \cdot \dots \cdot F_{a_1} \cdot Z_{a_1} & \alpha^{(r)} = \{a_1, \dots, a_{n_r}\}, \end{cases}$$
(3.18)

where $F_i^{\mu\nu} = k_i^{\mu} \epsilon_i^{\nu} - k_i^{\nu} \epsilon_i^{\mu}$. The Z_a are defined as the sum over momenta to the left of particle *a* in *both* the colour ordering and the split ordering,

$$Z_a = \sum_i k_i \,\forall_{i \triangleleft a \text{ and } i \prec a} \,. \tag{3.19}$$

This implies in particular that different terms in the sum over SO's in eq. (3.16) may involve different sums over momenta for Z_a , since the split orderings differ.

To highlight the relation to the schematic formula of the numerators as $N(+, \rho, -) = \sum_{I} W_{I} \tilde{Y}_{\bar{I}}$ given in eq. (3.9), note that eq. (3.16) amounts to

$$\tilde{Y}_{\bar{I}} = (-1)^{n_{I}} \left(\sum_{\text{SO}} \prod_{r} Y\left(\alpha^{(r)}\right) \right) .$$
(3.20)

Relating this back to the expansion of the integrand $\mathcal{I}_{NS}^{(1)}$, the product over $Y(\alpha^{(r)})$ can be understood intuitively as 'breaking open' the closed cycles in the definition of the Pfaffian (see eq. (3.8)), and the sum over split ordering ensures that only terms consistent with the colour ordering and the recursive expansion of the Pfaffian are kept.

Let us now take a closer look at the split ordering featuring so prominently in the algorithm. As pointed out at the beginning of this section, the split orderings are constructed to encode the difference between the two orderings the numerators depend on: the colour ordering CO and the reference ordering RO. This is best understood in a concrete example: consider the term coming from $\bar{I} = \{3, 4\}$ in the four-point master numerators $N_{\rm RO}(2134)$ and $N_{\rm RO}(2143)$. With RO= (+1234–), and hence $3 \dashv 4$, the set ${\rm Split}(\bar{I})$ of possible decompositions $\bar{I} = \bigcup_r \alpha^{(r)}$ is

$$\operatorname{Split}(\bar{I}) = \begin{cases} \{\{3\}, \{4\}\} & \text{for } 3 \triangleleft 4, \text{ so } N_{\operatorname{RO}}(2134), \\ \{\{3\}, \{4\}\} \cup \{\{4, 3\}\} & \text{for } 4 \triangleleft 3, \text{ so } N_{\operatorname{RO}}(2143), \end{cases}$$
(3.21)

and thus
$$SO = \begin{cases} (+2134-) & \text{for } 3 \triangleleft 4, \\ (+2134-), (+2143-) & \text{for } 4 \triangleleft 3. \end{cases}$$
 (3.22)

We see that if \dashv and \triangleleft agree when restricted to \bar{I} , there is a unique decomposition of \bar{I} (with all subsets containing only a single element, $\forall_r n_r = 1$). On the other hand, if \dashv and \triangleleft differ on \bar{I} , the decomposition contains subsets $\alpha^{(r)}$ with more than one element (e.g. {4,3} in eq. (3.22)). In particular, this observation *only* depends on whether \dashv and \triangleleft describe different ordering relations on \bar{I} , without reference to I. Indeed, the above example is chosen such that CO \neq RO for both numerators.

Ī	${\rm Split}(\bar{I})$	SO	$\operatorname{tr}(I)$	numerator factor $W\left(\alpha^{(r)}\right)$
$\{1, 2, 3, 4\}$	$\{\{1\},\{2\},\{3\},\{4\}\}$	(+1234-)	(D - 2)	$\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell + k_1) \epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell - k_4) \epsilon_4 \cdot \ell$
$\{1, 2, 3\}$	$\{\{1\},\{2\},\{3\}\}$	(+4123-)	0	
:				÷
$\{1, 2\}$	$\{\{1\},\{2\}\}$	(+3412-)	tr(34)	$\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell + k_1)$
:				÷
{1}	$\{\{1\}\}$	(+2341-)	tr(234)	$\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell$
÷				÷
Ø	{}	(+1234-)	tr(1234)	1

Table 2. Contributions to the master numerator $N_{(1234)}(1234)$.

In other words, the set $\{\alpha^{(r)} | n_r > 1\}$ is in one-to-one correspondence with the set of colour-ordered subsets of the external particles whose ordering differs from the chosen reference ordering RO. This will be a useful interpretation to keep in mind for the next subsection, where we calculate some of the master numerators for illustration.

3.3 Examples

The easiest way to approach the rather abstract algorithm given in the last section is to consider a few examples. Along the way, we will make some useful observations concerning the form of the numerators. For simplicity, we take

$$RO = (+1234 -)$$

for the remainder of this section.

The simplest example: $N_{RO}(1234)$. Keeping in mind the correspondence between $\alpha^{(r)}$ and colour-ordered, but not reference-ordered subsets of external particles, it is easy to see why $N_{RO}(1234)$ constitutes the simplest case: since CO = RO, \dashv and \triangleleft agree when restricted to any \bar{I} , and thus the sum over split orderings only involves a single term for any \bar{I} . We see this explicitly in table 2.

While we have only listed one example term at any n_I for illustration, it is easily checked that the decomposition into $\alpha^{(r)}$ is unique for the other terms as well. Due to CO = RO, only subsets of length one satisfy the criteria of (ii) being colour-ordered and (iv) the last element being the smallest in the reference ordering.

We can already make a useful observation concerning the structure of the master numerators based on this example: due to $tr(F_i) = 0$, all terms from a decomposition with $n_I = 1$ (and hence $n_{\bar{I}} = n - 1$) vanish. This simplification occurs for any number of external particles, and for any colour ordering and reference ordering; we will therefore omit these terms from now on.

Ī	$\operatorname{Split}(\bar{I})$	SO	$\operatorname{tr}(I)$	numerator factor $W\left(\alpha^{(r)}\right)$
$\{1, 2, 4, 3\}$	$\{\{1\},\{2\},\{3\},\{4\}\}$	(+1234-)	(D-2)	$\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell + k_1) \epsilon_4 \cdot (\ell - k_3) \epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell - k_4)$
	$\{\{1\},\{2\},\{4,3\}\}$	(+1243-)	(D-2)	$\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell + k_1) \epsilon_3 \cdot F_4 \cdot (\ell - k_3)$
$\{1, 2\}$	$\{\{1\}, \{2\}\}$	(+4312-)	tr(43)	$\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell + k_1)$
$\{4, 3\}$	$\{\{3\},\{4\}\}$	(+1234-)	$\operatorname{tr}(12)$	$\epsilon_4 \cdot (\ell - k_3) \epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell - k_4)$
	$\{\{4,3\}\}$	(+1243-)	$\operatorname{tr}(12)$	$\epsilon_3\cdot F_4\cdot (\ell-k_3)$
÷				:
{1}	{{1}}	(+2431-)	tr(243)	$\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell$
:				
Ø	{}	(+1243-)	tr(1243)	1

Table 3. Contributions to the master numerator $N_{(1234)}(1243)$.

Summing all contributions from table 2, $N_{\rm RO}(1234)$ is given by

$$N_{\rm RO}(1234) = (D-2) \epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell-k_4) \epsilon_4 \cdot \ell$$

$$+ \left(\operatorname{tr}(12) \epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell-k_4) \epsilon_4 \cdot \ell + \operatorname{tr}(13) \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \epsilon_4 \cdot \ell \right) + \operatorname{tr}(14) \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell-k_4) + \operatorname{tr}(23) \epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_4 \cdot \ell + \operatorname{tr}(24) \epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell-k_4) + \operatorname{tr}(34) \epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \right)$$

$$- \left(\operatorname{tr}(123) \epsilon_4 \cdot \ell + \operatorname{tr}(124) \epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell-k_4) + \operatorname{tr}(134) \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell+k_1) + \operatorname{tr}(234) \epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \right) + \operatorname{tr}(1234) .$$
(3.23)

A more interesting example: $N_{RO}(1243)$. Having gained some intuition with the algorithm in the last example, let us now turn to a more interesting case with CO \neq RO. For $N_{(1234)}(1243)$, the algorithm of section 3.2 leads to the terms listed in table 3.

Consistently with the intuition developed in the last section, we get terms from the decompositions $\{\{3\}, \{4\}\}\$ and $\{\{4,3\}\}\$, since \dashv and \triangleleft describe different ordering relations on any \bar{I} containing both particles 3 and 4. We notice, moreover, that terms from different split orderings of the same \bar{I} combine nicely; for example the contribution from $\bar{I} = \{4,3\}$ is

$$\operatorname{tr}(12)\left(\sum_{\mathrm{SO}(43)}\prod_{r}W\left(\alpha^{(r)}\right)\right) = \operatorname{tr}(12)\left(\epsilon_{4}\cdot\left(\ell-k_{3}\right)\epsilon_{3}\cdot\ell-\epsilon_{3}\cdot\epsilon_{4}k_{4}\cdot\left(\ell-k_{3}\right)\right).$$
 (3.24)

The first term on the right-hand side actually looks familiar: we have already encountered it in $N_{(1243)}(1243)$ (with RO = CO). A similar calculation for $\bar{I} = \{1, 2, 4, 3\}$ shows that the two terms from SO = (+1234-) and SO = (+1243-) combine to the $N_{(1243)}(1243)$ contribution and terms proportional to $\epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4$. Combining all terms, the numerator is given by

$$N_{(1234)}(1243) = N_{(1243)}(1243) - (D-2)\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell+k_1)\epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4 k_4 \cdot (\ell-k_3)$$
(3.25)
- tr(12)\epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4 k_4 \cdot (\ell-k_3).

Remark. In fact, the observations from the examples above can be extended to any colour ordering and any number of external particles:

- All terms with $n_I = 1$ in the sum over split orderings vanish due to $tr(F_I) = 0$.
- Given a reference ordering RO and a colour ordering CO, the master numerators take the form

$$N_{\rm RO}(\rm CO) = N_{\rm CO}(\rm CO) - \Delta, \qquad (3.26)$$

where all terms in Δ are proportional to $\epsilon_i \cdot \epsilon_j$ with $i \triangleleft j$ but $j \dashv i$.¹⁶

Proof. eq. (3.26) is easily proven directly from the algorithm as follows. First note that it suffices to consider a single set \overline{I} on which \triangleleft and \dashv differ, since the simplifications work term by term in the expansion $I \cup \overline{I}$. Moreover, although there is always a contribution coming from the decompositions where all subsets $\alpha^{(r)}$ have length one, this term does not directly coincide with $N_{\rm CO}({\rm CO})$ due to the different split orderings. To be precise, $\Delta Z := Z_a^{\rm CO} - Z_a^{\rm RO} = \sum_{i|i \triangleleft a, a \prec i} k_i$ is given by the sum over momenta respecting the colour ordering, $i \triangleleft a$, but violating the reference ordering, $a \prec i$. However, we will see that this is exactly compensated by the split orderings with $n_r > 1$.

By construction, contributions from $n_r > 1$ are of the form $\epsilon_{a_{n_r}} \cdot F_{(a_{n_r}-1)} \cdot \ldots \cdot Z_{a_1}$ with a_i satisfing $a_i \triangleleft a_1$, $a_1 \prec a_i$ for i > 1. We further observe that $Z_{a_1}^{\rm CO} = Z_{a_1}^{\rm RO}$. Upon expanding $F_i^{\mu\nu} = k_i^{[\mu} \epsilon_i^{\nu]}$, the terms contracting *only* polarisation vectors to momenta thus add precisely the factors $\epsilon \cdot \Delta Z$ required to match to the numerators $N_{\rm CO}({\rm CO})$. Collecting all terms containing the contractions *among* polarisation vectors as Δ then completes the proof of eq. (3.26).

Corollary: all-plus and one-minus. The above remark leads to an immediate corollary for the all-plus helicities and one-minus helicities master numerators in four spacetime dimensions. For these amplitudes, the reference spinors in the polarisation vectors can be chosen such that $\epsilon_i \cdot \epsilon_j = 0 \quad \forall_{i,j}$; see eq. (4.12) below. Using eq. (3.26), the numerators simplify to

$$N_{\rm RO}(\rm CO) = N_{\rm CO}(\rm CO), \qquad \forall \rm RO, \qquad (3.27)$$

that is, the numerators are independent of the choice of reference ordering. This vastly simplifies the structure of the amplitudes and facilitates the matching to known results, which we will verify in the next section.

4 Tests of our Yang-Mills formulae

In this section, we provide several explicit tests of our gauge theory results. The first part is dedicated to tests of our four-gluon scattering formula, whereas the second part is dedicated to the simplest four-dimensional helicity configurations: all-plus and one-minus (and analogously, all-minus and one-plus).

¹⁶Or explicitly, i is to the left of j in the colour ordering, but to the right of j in the reference ordering.

4.1 Tests at four points

The four-point colour-ordered one-loop integrand for gluons is given by a combination of box, triangle and bubble diagram contributions, all defined with respect to the numerators N defined in the previous section. It reads¹⁷

$$\begin{aligned} \Im_{\rm YM}(1234) &= \frac{1}{2} \left[\,\Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm box}(1234) + \left(\Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm tri}(1234) + \Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm tri}(2341) + \Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm tri}(3412) + \Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm tri}(4123) \right) \\ &+ \left(\Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm bub}(1234) + \Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm bub}(4123) \right) + (\ell \to -\ell) \, \right], \end{aligned}$$
(4.1)

and

$$\begin{split} \Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm box}(1234) &= \frac{N(1234;\ell)}{(2\ell\cdot k_1)(2\ell\cdot (k_1+k_2)+2k_1\cdot k_2)(-2\ell\cdot k_4)} + \operatorname{cyc}(1234) \,,\\ \Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm tri}(1234) &= \frac{1}{2k_1\cdot k_2} \left(\frac{N([1,2]34;\ell)}{(2\ell\cdot (k_1+k_2)+2k_1\cdot k_2)(-2\ell\cdot k_4)} \right. \\ &\quad + \frac{N(34[1,2];\ell)}{(2\ell\cdot k_3)(2\ell\cdot (k_3+k_4)+2k_3\cdot k_4)} + \frac{N(4[1,2]3;\ell)}{(2\ell\cdot k_4)(-2\ell\cdot k_3)} \right) ,\\ \Im_{\rm YM}^{\rm bub}(1234) &= \frac{1}{(2k_1\cdot k_2)^2} \left(\frac{N([1,2][3,4];\ell)}{2\ell\cdot (k_1+k_2)+2k_1\cdot k_2} + \frac{N([3,4][1,2];\ell)}{2\ell\cdot (k_3+k_4)+2k_3\cdot k_4} \right) , \end{split}$$

where cyc(1234) denotes the three remaining cyclic permutations. The full (colour-dressed) integrand, including the double-trace contributions, is obtained from (3.2a), where colour-ordered integrands $\Im_{\rm YM}(+\rho-)$ are now denoted as $\Im_{\rm YM}(\rho)$ for brevity. In the expressions above, we introduced two pieces of notation. Firstly, we wrote explicitly the loop momentum in the numerators, $N(\ldots; \ell)$, which will be helpful later for comparison with a different representation. Secondly, we incorporated the BCJ Jacobi relations by defining the triangle and bubble numerators in terms of the box numerators constructed in the previous section, e.g.

$$N([1,2]34;\ell) = N(1234;\ell) - N(2134;\ell), \qquad (4.2a)$$

$$N([1,2][3,4];\ell) = N(1234;\ell) - N(2134;\ell) - N(1243;\ell) + N(2143;\ell),$$
(4.2b)

and so on; see figure 5 for a graphic depiction of the first line. The box numerators are simply the half-ladder numerators at four points.

We performed three basic numerical tests of our formulae, using random kinematic points. The first test is gauge invariance. Working with any particular reference ordering (RO) to define the numerators, we find numerically that a gauge transformation changes the integrand but not the amplitude:

$$\mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{YM}}(1234)\Big|_{\epsilon_i \to \epsilon_i + \alpha_i k_i} \simeq \mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{YM}}(1234)$$
 (4.3)

¹⁷The explicit average in the sign of ℓ in (4.1) is not essential, but leads to convenient cancellations, simplifying the tests to be described below. For instance, we find that the sign average is not needed to check the cyclic relation $\Im_{\rm YM}(1234) = \Im_{\rm YM}(2341)$, but it enforces directly the reflection relation $\Im_{\rm YM}(1234) = \Im_{\rm YM}(4321)$.



Figure 5. Graphic depiction of the Jacobi identity giving rise to the triangle numerator in eq. (4.2a).

Explicitly, we check that the difference between the left-hand and right-hand sides in the expression above either scales for a rescaling of the loop momentum or is a linear combination of terms that scale; equivalently, that there is no propagator factor of the type $2\ell \cdot K + K^2$ with non-vanishing K^2 , since this would ruin the scaling. For the present test, we find simply

$$\left. \mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{YM}}(1234) \right|_{\epsilon_i \to \epsilon_i + \alpha_i k_i} - \mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{YM}}(1234) \xrightarrow{\ell \to \lambda \ell} \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0) , \qquad (4.4)$$

but in other tests below we may find (finite) linear combinations of terms $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^m)$ for integer m. According to the argument around (1.3), this ensures that the two loop integrands are equivalent. The simplicity of this important test is striking, when compared with the more elaborate procedure required to verify gauge invariance in a Feynman-type representation of the integrand.

The second test we performed is the verification that we obtain an equivalent loop integrand (\simeq) for any choice of reference ordering in the definition of the numerators. For instance,¹⁸

$$\Im_{\rm YM}(1234)\Big|_{\rm RO=(1234)} \simeq \Im_{\rm YM}(1234)\Big|_{\rm RO=(4231)}$$
 (4.5)

More generally, we can use any linear combination

$$N(\mathrm{CO};\ell) = \sum_{\mathrm{RO}\in S_4} \left(c^{(\mathrm{RO})} N_{\mathrm{RO}}(\mathrm{CO};\ell) + \tilde{c}^{(\mathrm{RO})} N_{\mathrm{RO}}(\mathrm{ICO};-\ell) \right), \qquad \forall \mathrm{CO}\in S_4, \quad (4.6)$$

as long as the constant coefficients satisfy

$$\sum_{\mathrm{RO}\in S_4} \left(c^{(\mathrm{RO})} + \tilde{c}^{(\mathrm{RO})} \right) = 1 .$$
(4.7)

We denote by ICO the inverted colour ordering; for instance, $CO = (1234) \Rightarrow ICO = (4321)$. The inclusion of these terms into the numerators in eq. (4.6) is allowed because of the reflection property of the propagators in half-ladder diagrams (which requires momentum conservation), e.g.

$$(2\ell \cdot k_4)(2\ell \cdot (k_4 + k_3) + 2k_4 \cdot k_3)(-2\ell \cdot k_1)\Big|_{\ell \to -\ell} = (2\ell \cdot k_1)(2\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) + 2k_1 \cdot k_2)(-2\ell \cdot k_4).$$

Let us give an explicit example. If we define the numerators by choosing the linear combination

$$N(CO; \ell) = (1 - c) \ N_{(2413)}(CO; \ell) + c \ N_{(4312)}(ICO; -\ell) , \qquad \forall CO \in S_4 , \qquad (4.8)$$

¹⁸We denote the reference ordering $(+i_1i_2i_3i_4-)$ simply as $(i_1i_2i_3i_4)$ for brevity.

then the terms proportional to the coefficient c in the complete integrant $\Im_{\rm YM}(1234)$ vanish after loop integration, due to their scaling with the loop momentum, as discussed above. A natural choice of numerators is to symmetrise over all reference orderings, as we discuss in appendix B. In this case, the various colour orderings are obtained from each other by just relabelling the particles.

For the third test, we match our loop integrand (in any of the equivalent forms described above) with a known form of the four-point integrand. That is, while we have verified the consistency of our expressions with respect to gauge transformations and to the choice of reference ordering that defines the numerators, we are still to show explicitly that it matches the correct amplitude. In order to do this, we choose a conventional BCJ representation of the integrand — that is, one with Feynman-type quadratic propagators — obtained in [49]. In particular, we define as

$\hat{N}(1234; \ell; \ell^2)$

the box BCJ numerator of equation (3.5) in that paper. Notice that, in this conventional BCJ representation, the analogous numerator for any other ordering of the particles is given by a simple relabelling. Moreover, the numerators \hat{N} depend on ℓ^2 (unlike ours, which depend on ℓ only through $\ell \cdot k_i$ and $\ell \cdot \epsilon_i$) and we denote this dependence explicitly in its arguments. Now, in order to compare to our numerators, we must change from the Feynman-type representation I_{qdr} of the integrand used in [49] into the representation I_{lin} we use. We can follow the procedure reviewed around (2.27) to obtain

$$\hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{YM}(1234) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{YM}^{box}(1234) + \left(\hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{YM}^{tri}(1234) + \hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{YM}^{tri}(2341) + \hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{YM}^{tri}(3412) + \hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{YM}^{tri}(4123) \right) + \left(\hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{YM}^{bub}(1234) + \hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{YM}^{bub}(4123) \right) + (\ell \to -\ell) \right],$$

$$(4.9)$$

and

$$\begin{split} \hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{\rm YM}^{\rm box}(1234) &= \frac{\hat{N}(1234;\ell;0)}{(2\ell \cdot k_1)(2\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) + 2k_1 \cdot k_2)(-2\ell \cdot k_4)} \\ &+ \frac{\hat{N}(1234;\ell - k_1;-2\ell \cdot k_1)}{(2\ell \cdot k_2)(2\ell \cdot (k_2 + k_3) + 2k_2 \cdot k_3)(-2\ell \cdot k_1)} \\ &+ \frac{\hat{N}(1234;\ell - k_1 - k_2;-2\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) + 2k_1 \cdot k_2)}{(2\ell \cdot k_3)(2\ell \cdot (k_3 + k_4) + 2k_3 \cdot k_4)(-2\ell \cdot k_2)} \\ &+ \frac{\hat{N}(1234;\ell + k_4;2\ell \cdot k_4)}{(2\ell \cdot k_4)(2\ell \cdot (k_4 + k_1) + 2k_4 \cdot k_1)(-2\ell \cdot k_3)}, \\ \hat{\mathfrak{I}}_{\rm YM}^{\rm tri}(1234) &= \frac{1}{2k_1 \cdot k_2} \left(\frac{\hat{N}([1,2]34;\ell;0)}{(2\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) + 2k_1 \cdot k_2)(-2\ell \cdot k_4)} \\ &+ \frac{\hat{N}([1,2]34;\ell - k_1 - k_2;-2\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) + 2k_1 \cdot k_2)}{(2\ell \cdot k_3)(2\ell \cdot (k_3 + k_4) + 2k_3 \cdot k_4)} \\ &+ \frac{\hat{N}([1,2]34;\ell - k_1 - k_2;-2\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) + 2k_1 \cdot k_2)}{(2\ell \cdot k_3)(2\ell \cdot (k_3 + k_4) + 2k_3 \cdot k_4)} \\ &+ \frac{\hat{N}([1,2]34;\ell + k_4;2\ell \cdot k_4)}{(2\ell \cdot k_4)(-2\ell \cdot k_3)} \right), \end{split}$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{I}}_{YM}^{\text{bub}}(1234) = \frac{1}{(2k_1 \cdot k_2)^2} \left(\frac{\hat{N}([1,2][3,4];\ell;0)}{2\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) + 2k_1 \cdot k_2} + \frac{\hat{N}([1,2][3,4];\ell - k_1 - k_2; -2\ell \cdot (k_1 + k_2) + 2k_1 \cdot k_2)}{2\ell \cdot (k_3 + k_4) + 2k_3 \cdot k_4} \right). \quad (4.10)$$

The choice of the last argument in the numerators \hat{N} is associated with the shifts $\ell^2 \rightarrow \ell^2 + \eta^2$ for each term, as explained below (2.27). Finally, we can verify numerically that

$$\hat{\Im}_{YM}(1234) \simeq \Im_{YM}(1234),$$
(4.11)

where our integrand \mathfrak{I}_{YM} can be given by any reference ordering of the numerators N, or by any valid linear cobination of these as discussed above.

We conclude that we have the correct four-particle one-loop integrand.

For completeness, we performed one more check: the verification of the one-loop BCJ relations. For the representation of the loop integrand that we use, these relations were given in [104]. We find that the relations (5) and (6) in that paper are still valid, but only up to terms that integrate to zero due to scaling. This subtlety does not occur for the supersymmetric case studied in [104], but was anticipated in previous work on the one-loop BCJ relations [43, 44]. Likewise, we find that the partial integrands defined in [104] are now gauge invariant only up to terms that integrate to zero.

4.2 Tests in four dimensions: all-plus and one-minus amplitudes

The simplest four-dimensional amplitudes are those for which all the particles have the same helicity. In a helicity basis for the polarisations, for which we take a spinor-helicity representation,

$$\epsilon_i^{(+)} = \frac{|\eta\rangle[i|}{\langle i\eta\rangle}, \qquad \epsilon_i^{(-)} = \frac{|i\rangle[\eta|}{[i\eta]}, \qquad (4.12)$$

we have $\epsilon_i^{\pm} \cdot \epsilon_j^{\pm} = 0$. As we saw in (3.26), the definition of the numerators is independent of the choice of reference orderings when $\epsilon_i \cdot \epsilon_j = 0$. In the case where all the particles have the same helicity, we have verified up to 15 points that

$$N(1^{+}2^{+}\cdots n^{+};\ell) = 2 \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{\langle \eta i \rangle^{2}} X(\ell + k_{1} + \cdots + k_{i-1}, k_{i}), \qquad (4.13)$$

where the factor 2 comes from D-2, and we made use of the object

$$X(K,K') \equiv -\langle \eta | KK' | \eta \rangle = -X(K',K), \qquad (4.14)$$

with the momenta K and K' possibly off-shell. These numerators are precisely the BCJ numerators for all-plus amplitudes found in [47]. The all-plus one-loop amplitudes belong to the self-dual sector of Yang-Mills theory, where X(K, K') plays the role of vertex in diagrams. As first described in [10], the colour-kinematics duality in the self-dual sector is a consequence of the (Schouten) identity

$$X(K_a, K_b) \ X(K_c, K_d) + X(K_b, K_c) \ X(K_a, K_d) + X(K_c, K_a) \ X(K_b, K_d) = 0, \quad (4.15)$$

which leads to the Jacobi relations among numerators.

The above result can be extended to the case when all but one particles have the same helicity. Let us take particle 1 to have negative helicity, while the others have positive helicity. We can still obtain $\epsilon_i \cdot \epsilon_j = 0$ for any particles *i* and *j*, if we choose $|\eta\rangle = |1\rangle$. Then our BCJ-numerator algorithm leads to the one-minus BCJ numerators also described in [47], for instance,

$$N(1^{-}2^{+}\cdots n^{+};\ell) = 2 \frac{1}{[\eta 1]^{2}} \bar{X}(\ell,k_{1}) \prod_{i=2}^{n} \frac{1}{\langle \eta i \rangle^{2}} X(\ell+k_{1}+\cdots+k_{i-1},k_{i}), \qquad (4.16)$$

with $\bar{X}(K, K') \equiv -[\eta | KK' | \eta]$, which we have also checked up to 15 points.

To conclude, the only non-supersymmetric families of amplitudes for which an *n*-point BCJ form was known explicitly — the all-plus and one-minus sectors [47] — are precisely reproduced by the general numerators that we introduce in this paper.

4.3 Comment on representations of the loop integrand

The all-plus and one-minus numerators we have just described are special in that they are valid both in our representation of the loop integrand and in a conventional representation with quadratic propagators, where they were originally found in [47]. To appreciate this, consider these two types of representation at four points, in (4.1) and (4.9), respectively. Our numerators obey

$$N(1234; \ell - k_1) = N(2341; \ell) \quad \text{for all-plus or one-minus helicities}, \tag{4.17}$$

where the choice of reference ordering is irrelevant. However, in general, the expression above is only valid for certain distinct reference orderings, such as

$$N_{(1234)}(1234; \ell - k_1) = N_{(2341)}(2341; \ell) .$$
(4.18)

For this reason, it is in general not easy to relate our numerators to a set of numerators in a conventional representation of the integrand with quadratic propagators. We expect that, in a conventional representation, BCJ numerators should in general depend on ℓ^2 , as in the four-point numerators \hat{N} of [49] used above to test our loop integrand. It would be interesting to find a modification of our numerators that applies to a conventional integrand.

4.4 Comment on unitarity cuts

Unitarity based techniques are a powerful tool to deal with loop-level amplitudes [121–124]. A natural question is whether our formulae are well suited to the application of these techniques, as an alternative to direct loop integration. Although this question is beyond the scope of this paper, we can make a simple remark.

Consider the four-point integrand given above in (4.1). There exist four terms in the box contribution, whose propagators are cyclically related; the same does not apply in general to the numerators, as they depend on the choice of reference ordering. However, this complication is ultimately spurious. A four-dimensional maximal (box) cut is given by, for instance,¹⁹

¹⁹A non-vanishing result requires that there are two particles external of each helicity.

• either $N_{\rm RO}(1234; \ell_a)$, independently of RO, with cut loop momentum solutions ℓ_a , a = 1, 2,

$$(\ell_a)^2 = 2\,\ell_a \cdot k_1 = 2\,\ell_a \cdot (k_1 + k_2) + 2\,k_1 \cdot k_2 = -2\,\ell_a \cdot k_4 = 0\,, \tag{4.19}$$

• or $N_{\text{RO}'}(2341; \ell'_b)$, independently of RO', with cut loop momentum solutions ℓ'_b , b = 1, 2,

$$(\ell_b')^2 = 2\,\ell_b' \cdot k_2 = 2\,\ell_b' \cdot (k_2 + k_3) + 2\,k_2 \cdot k_3 = -2\,\ell_b' \cdot k_1 = 0\,. \tag{4.20}$$

The result is equivalent. This shows that the potentially unattractive features of the number of terms in our formulae (e.g. four terms for each box diagram) and of the choice of reference ordering are not serious obstructions. The procedure above does not require a sum over internal polarisation states, and its connection to tree-level formulae is manifest from the algorithm for the numerators. We plan to explore the unitarity properties of our formulae elsewhere.

5 Double copy to gravity

The gravity loop integrand is obtained from the Yang-Mills case via the double-copy prescription, by squaring the numerators. The straightforward double copy gives the NS-NS gravity case. For four external particles, we have

$$\Im_{\text{NS-NS},4} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\sum_{\text{CO}\in S_4} \left(\frac{1}{8} \,\, \Im_{\text{NS-NS}}^{\text{box}}(\text{CO}) + \frac{1}{4} \,\, \Im_{\text{NS-NS}}^{\text{tri}}(\text{CO}) + \frac{1}{16} \,\, \Im_{\text{NS-NS}}^{\text{bub}}(\text{CO}) \right) \,\, + \, (\ell \to -\ell) \right], \tag{5.1}$$

where the box, triangle and bubble contributions are given from their Yang-Mills counterparts as

$$\left\{ \left. \mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{YM}}^{\mathrm{box}} \,,\,\, \mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{YM}}^{\mathrm{tri}} \,,\,\, \mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{YM}}^{\mathrm{bub}} \,\right\} \,\right|_{N(\{\epsilon_i,k_i\};\ell) \to N(\{\epsilon_i,k_i\};\ell) \,\,N(\{\tilde{\epsilon}_i,k_i\};\ell)} = \left\{ \left. \mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{NS-NS}}^{\mathrm{box}} \,,\,\, \mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{NS-NS}}^{\mathrm{tri}} \,,\,\, \mathfrak{I}_{\mathrm{NS-NS}}^{\mathrm{bub}} \,\right\}.$$

This gives the amplitude for the scattering of external states with factorisable polarisation tensors, $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon_{\mu}\tilde{\epsilon}_{\nu}$. For more general states (where the polarisation tensors are not factorisable but can be given by linear combinations of factorisable contributions), we take appropriate linear combinations of the numerators for the factorisable states.

We have performed the analogous numerical tests as for the Yang-Mills four-point amplitude:

- invariance with respect to gauge transformations, now of both ϵ and $\tilde{\epsilon}$;
- equivalence of different choices of reference ordering (or valid linear combinations of such choices) in the definition of the numerators, independently for left and right numerator factors in the double copy;

• matching to a known form of the integrand, [49], namely the gravity integrand obtained from the double copy of (4.9).

In all these cases, the principle of the test is the same: the loop integrand $\Im_{\text{NS-NS},4}$ is only defined up to terms that integrate to zero according to their scaling with the loop momentum. Moreover, the higher-point tests for the four-dimensional all-plus and oneminus helicity amplitudes apply also to the gravity case.

We have so far discussed the one-loop integrand for NS-NS gravity, where not only the graviton but also the dilaton and B-field run in the loop. Let us now present the one-loop integrand for pure gravity, with only gravitons in the loop. This can be performed by an explicit subtraction of the unwanted degrees of freedom. Recall from (2.25) the form of the loop integrand in terms of one-loop scattering equations,

$$\mathfrak{I}_{\text{NS-NS}} = \int_{\mathfrak{M}_{0,n+2}} d\mu_{1,n}^{(\text{nod})} \, \mathcal{I}_{\text{NS-NS}}^{(1)} \,, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{I}_{\text{NS-NS}}^{(1)} = \mathcal{I}_{\text{NS}}^{(1)} \, \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{NS}}^{(1)} \,. \tag{5.2}$$

While we did not write it in this way previously, we can use the decomposition

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{(\sigma_{+-})^2} \left((D-2) \, {\rm Pf}(M_3) + {\rm Pf}_{\sqrt{q}}(M_3) \right) \,, \tag{5.3}$$

where the definition of $Pf_{\sqrt{q}}(M_3)$, which is not important for our current purpose, can be found in [80] or [81]. What matters to us now is that the first contribution on the right-hand side is the coefficient of D-2, and the other contribution is the rest. Then we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{\rm NS-NS}^{(1)} &= \mathcal{I}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} \widetilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\rm NS}^{(1)} \\ &= \frac{1}{(\sigma_{+-})^4} \Big((D-2)^2 \, \operatorname{Pf}(M_3) \, \operatorname{Pf}(\tilde{M}_3) \\ &+ (D-2) \, \left[\operatorname{Pf}(M_3) \, \operatorname{Pf}_{\sqrt{q}}(\tilde{M}_3) + \operatorname{Pf}_{\sqrt{q}}(M_3) \, \operatorname{Pf}(\tilde{M}_3) \right] \\ &+ \operatorname{Pf}_{\sqrt{q}}(M_3) \, \operatorname{Pf}_{\sqrt{q}}(\tilde{M}_3) \Big) \,. \end{aligned}$$
(5.4)

We mentioned in (2.26) that, for pure gravity in D = 4, we need to subtract the dilaton and the axion:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_{4\text{D-pure-grav}}^{(1)} &= \mathcal{I}_{\text{NS}}^{(1)} \,\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{NS}}^{(1)} - 2 \,\,\mathcal{I}_{\text{scal}}^{(1)} \,\tilde{\mathcal{I}}_{\text{scal}}^{(1)} \\ &= \frac{1}{(\sigma_{+-})^4} \Big(2 \,\,\text{Pf}(M_3) \,\,\text{Pf}(\tilde{M}_3) \\ &+ 2 \,\,\Big[\text{Pf}(M_3) \,\,\text{Pf}_{\sqrt{q}}(\tilde{M}_3) + \text{Pf}_{\sqrt{q}}(M_3) \,\,\text{Pf}(\tilde{M}_3) \Big] \\ &+ \text{Pf}_{\sqrt{q}}(M_3) \,\,\text{Pf}_{\sqrt{q}}(\tilde{M}_3) \Big) \,. \end{aligned}$$
(5.5)

Since our numerators for NS-NS gravity follow from the expression for $\mathcal{I}_{\text{NS-NS}}^{(1)}$, it is clear how to modify them in order to subtract the unwanted states: we should modify the coefficient of $(D-2)^2$,

$$N_{\text{4D-pure-grav}} = N(\{\epsilon_i, k_i\}; \ell) N(\{\tilde{\epsilon}_i, k_i\}; \ell) \Big|_{(D-2)^2 \to (D-2)^2 - 2} \quad \text{and set} \quad D = 4.$$
(5.6)

Since graviton external states are in general non-factorisable (i.e. not of the form $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu}$), an appropriate symmetric linear combination of numerators for factorisable states $\epsilon_{\mu}\tilde{\epsilon}_{\nu}$ is required. This is not necessary in a four-dimensional helicity basis, where the two helicity states of the graviton have the factorisable form $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu}^{\pm} = \epsilon_{\mu}^{\pm}\epsilon_{\nu}^{\pm}$.

The pure gravity numerators obtained in this way also satisfy the previous tests of gauge invariance, independence with respect to reference ordering, and correct higher-point all-plus and one-minus helicity amplitudes.

6 Discussion

We have presented explicit formulae for the one-loop integrands in non-supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory and gravity. The type of integrand representation employed, which differs from a Feynman-like representation with quadratic propagators, has allowed us to extend tree-level results to loop level, and also to check our expressions in a straightforward manner.

These results exhibit the potential of ambitwistor strings as a tool in quantum field theory, including the study of non-supersymmetric theories. One major question that we discussed in detail is the BCJ colour-kinematics duality in gauge theory and the associated double copy to gravity. We found that the one-loop results for supersymmetric theories [104, 105] extend to the non-supersymmetric case, if one takes into account the fact that the loop integrand is not uniquely defined due to terms that vanish upon loop integration. These results indicate that the loop-level BCJ conjecture [2], formulated for a Feynmantype representation of the integrand, is more restrictive than its analogue conjecture for the new type of integrand representation. This is a significant finding in view of the obstacles that have been found when exploring the colour-kinematics duality at loop level, as discussed in the Introduction.

An important open question is how to perform the loop integration efficiently in the representation of the integrand that we use. There are three obvious approaches. The first is to explore the direct loop integration, based on the $i\epsilon$ prescription proposed in ref. [90]. The second is to adapt our algorithm to produce a Feynman-type representation of the integrand, for which integration techniques have been developed over decades. The third is to extract information from our formulae in a manner that is suitable for modern unitarity techniques. In our view, all three approaches are worth exploring, and indeed each may inform the others.

There are several other lines of work that suggest themselves. One is the application of our results to infrared physics in gauge theory and gravity, where the scattering equations and ambitwistor strings have already proven to be fruitful [125–129] for describing the new soft theorems discovered in [130, 131]. Another line of work is the study of the four-dimensional ambitwistor strings [67], whose loop-level development has been initiated in [132] but is still largely an open problem. It would be interesting to find explicit integrand formulae that can in principle be integrated, along the lines of our work.

The most obvious open question is the extension of the entire formalism to higher loops. The first two-loop results were reported in [82] and they will soon be further developed [120].

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Simon Caron-Huot, Bo Feng, Song He, Henrik Johansson and in particular Oliver Schlotterer for inspiring discussions and valuable comments. This research was supported in part by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. NSF PHY-1125915, as well as the Munich Institute for Astro- and Particle Physics (MIAPP) of the DFG cluster of excellence "Origin and Structure of the Universe". We are grateful to the KITP Santa Barbara and the MIAPP Munich as well as the organizers of the workshops "Scattering Amplitudes and Beyond" (KITP) and "Mathematics and Physics of Scattering Amplitudes" (MIAPP) for providing hospitality, support and a stimulating atmosphere. YG gratefully acknowledges support from the National Science Foundation, the W.M. Keck Foundation Fund and the Roger Dashen Membership. RM is supported by a Royal Society University Research Fellowship.

A Master numerators at four points

For all of this section, we are assuming the reference ordering

$$RO = (+1234-).$$

Following the algorithm given above, two of the master numerators are

$$N(1234) = (D-2) \epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell \epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}) \epsilon_{3} \cdot (\ell-k_{4}) \epsilon_{4} \cdot \ell$$

$$+ (tr(12)\epsilon_{3} \cdot (\ell-k_{4}) \epsilon_{4} \cdot \ell + tr(13)\epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}) \epsilon_{4} \cdot \ell$$

$$+ tr(14)\epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}) \epsilon_{3} \cdot (\ell-k_{4}) + tr(23)\epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell \epsilon_{4} \cdot \ell$$

$$+ tr(24)\epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell \epsilon_{3} \cdot (\ell-k_{4}) + tr(34)\epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell \epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}))$$

$$- (tr(123)\epsilon_{4} \cdot \ell + tr(124)\epsilon_{3} \cdot (\ell-k_{4}) + tr(134)\epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}) + tr(234)\epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell)$$

$$+ tr(1234) ,$$

$$N(1243) = (D-2) \epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell \epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}) (\epsilon_{4} \cdot (\ell-k_{3}) \epsilon_{3} \cdot \ell - \epsilon_{3} \cdot \epsilon_{4} k_{4} \cdot (\ell-k_{3}))$$

$$+ (tr(12)(\epsilon_{4} \cdot (\ell-k_{3}) \epsilon_{3} \cdot \ell - \epsilon_{3} \cdot \epsilon_{4} k_{4} \cdot (\ell-k_{3}))$$

$$+ tr(13)\epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}) \epsilon_{4} \cdot (\ell-k_{3}) + tr(14)\epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}) \epsilon_{3} \cdot \ell$$

$$+ tr(23)\epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell \epsilon_{4} \cdot (\ell-k_{3}) + tr(24)\epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell \epsilon_{3} \cdot \ell + tr(34)\epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell \epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}))$$

$$- (tr(123)\epsilon_{4} \cdot (\ell-k_{3}) + tr(124)\epsilon_{3} \cdot \ell + tr(134)\epsilon_{2} \cdot (\ell+k_{1}) + tr(234)\epsilon_{1} \cdot \ell)$$

$$+ tr(1243) .$$

As discussed in section 3.3, the term proportional to (D-2) in N(1243) for example is calculated as the sum over the decompositions $\{\{1\}, \{2\}, \{3\}, \{4\}\}$ and $\{\{1\}, \{2\}, \{4, 3\}\}$,

$$\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \,\epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell + k_1) \left(\epsilon_4 \cdot (\ell - k_3) \,\epsilon_3 \cdot \ell + \epsilon_3 \cdot F_4 \cdot (\ell - k_3) \right). \tag{A.3}$$

Following the remark in section 3.3, it is much more convenient to calculate the difference $\Delta = N_{\rm CO}({\rm CO}) - N_{\rm RO}({\rm CO})$ of the numerators with the reference ordering RO from the canonical reference ordering RO = CO. We detail below the master numerators for the colour orderings (1234) through (1432) in this notation:

$$\Delta(1234) = 0, \qquad (A.4)$$

$$\Delta(1243) = (D-2)\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell+k_1)\epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4 k_4 \cdot (\ell-k_3) + \operatorname{tr}(12)\epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4 k_4 \cdot (\ell-k_3), \quad (A.5)$$

$$\Delta(1342) = (D-2)\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \left(\epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell+k_1)\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_4 k_4 \cdot (\ell-k_2)\right)$$
(A.6)

$$+k_3 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \left(\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3 \epsilon_4 \cdot (\ell-k_2) + \epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4 \epsilon_2 \cdot k_4 - \epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_4 k_4 \cdot k_3\right) \right)$$

+ tr(13) $\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_4 k_4 \cdot (\ell-k_2) + tr(14)\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3 k_3 \cdot (\ell+k_1).$

$$\Delta(1324) = (D-2)\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \epsilon_4 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3 k_3 \cdot (\ell+k_1) + \operatorname{tr}(14)\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3 k_3 \cdot (\ell+k_1), \qquad (A.7)$$

$$\Delta(1423) = (D-2)\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell k_4 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \left(\epsilon_3 \cdot \ell \epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_4 + \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4\right)$$

$$+ \operatorname{tr}(13)k_4 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_4 + \operatorname{tr}(12)k_4 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4,$$
(A.8)

$$\Delta(1432) = (D-2)\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \left(\epsilon_4 \cdot (\ell+k_1)\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3 k_3 \cdot (\ell-k_2) + k_4 \cdot (\ell+k_1) \left(\epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4 \epsilon_2 \cdot (\ell-k_4) + \epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_4 \epsilon_3 \cdot (\ell-k_2) - \epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3 \epsilon_4 \cdot k_3\right)\right) + \left(\operatorname{tr}(12)\epsilon_3 \cdot \epsilon_4 + \operatorname{tr}(13)\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_4\right)k_4 \cdot (\ell+k_1) + \operatorname{tr}(14)\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_3 k_3 \cdot (\ell-k_2).$$
(A.9)

B Master numerators independent of the reference ordering

There is a simple way to obtain BCJ master numerators independent of the reference ordering by just summing over all choices:

$$N_{\rm sym}(\rm CO) \equiv \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{\rm RO} N_{\rm RO}(\rm CO) \,. \tag{B.1}$$

For four external particles, the resulting numerators can be expressed (relatively) compactly as

$$N_{\rm sym}(1234) = N_{(1234)}(1234) + (D-2)\Delta_{\rm sym}^{(D-2)} + \Delta_{\rm sym}^{\rm tr}, \qquad (B.2)$$

where $N_{(1234)}(1234)$ was given in (A.1), and the contributions from contractions among polarisation vectors are

$$\Delta_{\text{sym}}^{(D-2)} = \frac{1}{12} \Big[3 \epsilon_4 \cdot p_4 \,\mathcal{U}_1 \big(3 \mid 2, 1 \mid \ell \big) + \epsilon_4 \cdot \ell \,\mathcal{U}_1 \big(3 \mid 2, 1 \mid p_1 \big) + (1243) + (1342) + (2341) \Big] \\ + \frac{1}{8} \Big[\mathcal{U}_2 \big(2, 1 \mid \ell \mid \mid 4, 3 \mid p_3 \big) + \mathcal{U}_2 \big(2, 1 \mid p_1 \mid \mid 4, 3 \mid \ell \big) + (1423) + (1324) \Big] \\ - \frac{1}{24} \Big[\epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_1 \,k_1 \cdot p_1 \,\epsilon_3 \cdot \ell \,\Big(2 \,\epsilon_4 \cdot p_4 + 2 \,\epsilon_4 \cdot \ell + \epsilon_4 \cdot k_3 \Big) \\ + \epsilon_2 \cdot \epsilon_1 \,k_1 \cdot \ell \,\epsilon_3 \cdot p_3 \,\Big(6 \,\epsilon_4 \cdot p_4 + 2 \,\epsilon_4 \cdot \ell - 3 \,\epsilon_4 \cdot k_3 \Big) \\ + (1324) + (1423) + (2314) + (2413) + (3412) \Big] \\ + \frac{1}{4} \,\mathcal{U}_1 \big(4 \mid 3, 2, 1 \mid \ell \big) + \frac{1}{12} \epsilon_4 \cdot \epsilon_3 \,k_3 \cdot k_2 \,\epsilon_1 \cdot \ell \,\epsilon_2 \cdot k_1 , \qquad (B.3a)$$

$$\Delta_{\text{sym}}^{\text{tr}} = -\frac{1}{2} \Big[\text{tr}(12) \ \epsilon_4 \cdot \epsilon_3 \ k_3 \cdot p_3 + (1324) + (1423) + (2314) + (2413) + (3412) \Big] \,. \tag{B.3b}$$

Above, we used the convention

 $p_1 = \ell$, $p_2 = \ell + k_1$, $p_3 = \ell - k_4$ and $p_4 = \ell$, (B.4)

and the short-hand notation

$$\mathcal{U}_1(a_n | a_{n-1}, \dots, a_1 | p) = \epsilon_{a_n} \cdot F_{a_{n-1}} \cdot \dots \cdot F_{a_1} \cdot p - \epsilon_{a_n} \cdot k_{a_{n-1}} \epsilon_{a_{n-1}}$$
$$\cdot k_{a_{n-2}} \dots \epsilon_{a_2} \cdot k_{a_1} \epsilon_{a_1} \cdot p, \qquad (B.5a)$$

$$\mathcal{U}_2(a_2, a_1 \mid p \parallel a_4, a_3 \mid q) = \epsilon_{a_2} \cdot F_{a_1} \cdot p \ \epsilon_{a_4} \cdot F_{a_3} \cdot q - \epsilon_{a_2} \cdot k_{a_1} \epsilon_{a_1} \cdot p \ \epsilon_{a_4} \cdot k_{a_3} \epsilon_{a_3} \cdot q.$$
(B.5b)

Moreover, we denote the permutations summed over by e.g.

$$(2413) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 2 & 4 & 1 & 3 \end{pmatrix} \equiv (1 \to 2, 2 \to 4, 3 \to 1, 4 \to 3).$$
(B.6)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, New relations for gauge-theory amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 085011 [arXiv:0805.3993] [INSPIRE].
- [2] Z. Bern, J.J.M. Carrasco and H. Johansson, Perturbative quantum gravity as a double copy of gauge theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 061602 [arXiv:1004.0476] [INSPIRE].
- [3] H. Kawai, D.C. Lewellen and S.H.H. Tye, A relation between tree amplitudes of closed and open strings, Nucl. Phys. B 269 (1986) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [4] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard and P. Vanhove, Minimal basis for gauge theory amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 161602 [arXiv:0907.1425] [INSPIRE].
- [5] S. Stieberger, Open & closed vs. pure open string disk amplitudes, arXiv:0907.2211
 [INSPIRE].
- [6] Z. Bern, T. Dennen, Y.-t. Huang and M. Kiermaier, Gravity as the square of gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 065003 [arXiv:1004.0693] [INSPIRE].
- B. Feng, R. Huang and Y. Jia, Gauge amplitude identities by on-shell recursion relation in S-matrix program, Phys. Lett. B 695 (2011) 350 [arXiv:1004.3417] [INSPIRE].
- [8] S.H. Henry Tye and Y. Zhang, Dual identities inside the gluon and the graviton scattering amplitudes, JHEP 06 (2010) 071 [Erratum ibid. 04 (2011) 114] [arXiv:1003.1732]
 [INSPIRE].
- C.R. Mafra, O. Schlotterer and S. Stieberger, Explicit BCJ numerators from pure spinors, JHEP 07 (2011) 092 [arXiv:1104.5224] [INSPIRE].

- [10] R. Monteiro and D. O'Connell, The kinematic algebra from the self-dual sector, JHEP 07 (2011) 007 [arXiv:1105.2565] [INSPIRE].
- [11] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, R. Monteiro and D. O'Connell, Algebras for amplitudes, JHEP 06 (2012) 061 [arXiv:1203.0944] [INSPIRE].
- [12] S. Oxburgh and C.D. White, BCJ duality and the double copy in the soft limit, JHEP 02 (2013) 127 [arXiv:1210.1110] [INSPIRE].
- J. Broedel and L.J. Dixon, Color-kinematics duality and double-copy construction for amplitudes from higher-dimension operators, JHEP 10 (2012) 091 [arXiv:1208.0876]
 [INSPIRE].
- [14] H. Johansson and A. Ochirov, Pure gravities via color-kinematics duality for fundamental matter, JHEP 11 (2015) 046 [arXiv:1407.4772] [INSPIRE].
- [15] H. Johansson and A. Ochirov, Color-kinematics duality for QCD amplitudes, JHEP 01 (2016) 170 [arXiv:1507.00332] [INSPIRE].
- M. Chiodaroli, M. Günaydin, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, Scattering amplitudes in N = 2 Maxwell-Einstein and Yang-Mills/Einstein supergravity, JHEP 01 (2015) 081
 [arXiv:1408.0764] [INSPIRE].
- [17] M. Chiodaroli, M. Günaydin, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, Spontaneously broken Yang-Mills-Einstein supergravities as double copies, JHEP 06 (2017) 064 [arXiv:1511.01740] [INSPIRE].
- [18] M. Chiodaroli, M. Günaydin, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, *Gauged supergravities and spontaneous SUSY breaking from the double copy*, arXiv:1710.08796 [INSPIRE].
- [19] A. Anastasiou et al., Are all supergravity theories Yang-Mills squared?, arXiv:1707.03234
 [INSPIRE].
- [20] C.R. Mafra, O. Schlotterer and S. Stieberger, Complete N-point superstring disk amplitude I. Pure spinor computation, Nucl. Phys. B 873 (2013) 419 [arXiv:1106.2645] [INSPIRE].
- [21] J. Broedel, O. Schlotterer and S. Stieberger, *Polylogarithms, multiple zeta values and superstring amplitudes, Fortsch. Phys.* **61** (2013) 812 [arXiv:1304.7267] [INSPIRE].
- [22] J.J.M. Carrasco, C.R. Mafra and O. Schlotterer, Abelian Z-theory: NLSM amplitudes and α' -corrections from the open string, JHEP 06 (2017) 093 [arXiv:1608.02569] [INSPIRE].
- [23] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering equations and matrices: from Einstein to Yang-Mills, DBI and NLSM, JHEP 07 (2015) 149 [arXiv:1412.3479] [INSPIRE].
- [24] C. Cheung, C.-H. Shen and C. Wen, Unifying relations for scattering amplitudes, JHEP 02 (2018) 095 [arXiv:1705.03025] [INSPIRE].
- [25] R. Monteiro, D. O'Connell and C.D. White, Black holes and the double copy, JHEP 12 (2014) 056 [arXiv:1410.0239] [INSPIRE].
- [26] W.D. Goldberger and A.K. Ridgway, Radiation and the classical double copy for color charges, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 125010 [arXiv:1611.03493] [INSPIRE].
- [27] A. Luna et al., Perturbative spacetimes from Yang-Mills theory, JHEP 04 (2017) 069 [arXiv:1611.07508] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Luna, I. Nicholson, D. O'Connell and C.D. White, Inelastic black hole scattering from charged scalar amplitudes, arXiv:1711.03901 [INSPIRE].

- [29] A. Anastasiou et al., Yang-Mills origin of gravitational symmetries, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 231606 [arXiv:1408.4434] [INSPIRE].
- [30] G. Cardoso, S. Nagy and S. Nampuri, Multi-centered $\mathcal{N} = 2$ BPS black holes: a double copy description, JHEP **04** (2017) 037 [arXiv:1611.04409] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Adamo, E. Casali, L. Mason and S. Nekovar, Scattering on plane waves and the double copy, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 015004 [arXiv:1706.08925] [INSPIRE].
- [32] T. Adamo, E. Casali, L. Mason and S. Nekovar, Amplitudes on plane waves from ambitwistor strings, JHEP 11 (2017) 160 [arXiv:1708.09249] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J.J. Carrasco and H. Johansson, Five-point amplitudes in N = 4 Super-Yang-Mills theory and N = 8 supergravity, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 025006 [arXiv:1106.4711] [INSPIRE].
- [34] Z. Bern et al., Simplifying multiloop integrands and ultraviolet divergences of gauge theory and gravity amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 105014 [arXiv:1201.5366] [INSPIRE].
- [35] Z. Bern, S. Davies, T. Dennen and Y.-t. Huang, Absence of three-loop four-point divergences in N = 4 supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. **108** (2012) 201301 [arXiv:1202.3423] [INSPIRE].
- [36] Z. Bern, S. Davies and T. Dennen, The ultraviolet structure of half-maximal supergravity with matter multiplets at two and three loops, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 065007 [arXiv:1305.4876] [INSPIRE].
- [37] Z. Bern et al., Ultraviolet properties of N = 4 supergravity at four loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 231302 [arXiv:1309.2498] [INSPIRE].
- [38] Z. Bern, S. Davies and T. Dennen, Enhanced ultraviolet cancellations in $\mathcal{N} = 5$ supergravity at four loops, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 105011 [arXiv:1409.3089] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C.R. Mafra and O. Schlotterer, Two-loop five-point amplitudes of super Yang-Mills and supergravity in pure spinor superspace, JHEP 10 (2015) 124 [arXiv:1505.02746] [INSPIRE].
- [40] H. Johansson, G. Kälin and G. Mogull, *Two-loop supersymmetric QCD and half-maximal supergravity amplitudes*, *JHEP* **09** (2017) 019 [arXiv:1706.09381] [INSPIRE].
- [41] R.H. Boels, B.A. Kniehl, O.V. Tarasov and G. Yang, Color-kinematic duality for form factors, JHEP 02 (2013) 063 [arXiv:1211.7028] [INSPIRE].
- [42] G. Yang, Color-kinematics duality and Sudakov form factor at five loops for N = 4 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 271602 [arXiv:1610.02394]
 [INSPIRE].
- [43] R.H. Boels and R.S. Isermann, New relations for scattering amplitudes in Yang-Mills theory at loop level, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 021701 [arXiv:1109.5888] [INSPIRE].
- [44] R.H. Boels and R.S. Isermann, Yang-Mills amplitude relations at loop level from non-adjacent BCFW shifts, JHEP 03 (2012) 051 [arXiv:1110.4462] [INSPIRE].
- [45] Y.-J. Du and H. Lüo, On general BCJ relation at one-loop level in Yang-Mills theory, JHEP 01 (2013) 129 [arXiv:1207.4549] [INSPIRE].
- [46] C.R. Mafra and O. Schlotterer, The structure of n-point one-loop open superstring amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2014) 099 [arXiv:1203.6215] [INSPIRE].
- [47] R.H. Boels, R.S. Isermann, R. Monteiro and D. O'Connell, Colour-kinematics duality for one-loop rational amplitudes, JHEP 04 (2013) 107 [arXiv:1301.4165] [INSPIRE].

- [48] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, T. Dennen, R. Monteiro and D. O'Connell, Integrand oxidation and one-loop colour-dual numerators in N = 4 gauge theory, JHEP 07 (2013) 092
 [arXiv:1303.2913] [INSPIRE].
- [49] Z. Bern et al., Color-kinematics duality for pure Yang-Mills and gravity at one and two loops, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 045041 [arXiv:1303.6605] [INSPIRE].
- [50] C.R. Mafra and O. Schlotterer, Towards one-loop SYM amplitudes from the pure spinor BRST cohomology, Fortsch. Phys. 63 (2015) 105 [arXiv:1410.0668] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. He, R. Monteiro and O. Schlotterer, String-inspired BCJ numerators for one-loop MHV amplitudes, JHEP 01 (2016) 171 [arXiv:1507.06288] [INSPIRE].
- [52] A. Primo and W.J. Torres Bobadilla, BCJ identities and d-dimensional generalized unitarity, JHEP 04 (2016) 125 [arXiv:1602.03161] [INSPIRE].
- [53] J.L. Jurado, G. Rodrigo and W.J. Torres Bobadilla, From Jacobi off-shell currents to integral relations, JHEP 12 (2017) 122 [arXiv:1710.11010] [INSPIRE].
- [54] P. Tourkine and P. Vanhove, Higher-loop amplitude monodromy relations in string and gauge theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 211601 [arXiv:1608.01665] [INSPIRE].
- [55] S. Hohenegger and S. Stieberger, Monodromy relations in higher-loop string amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 925 (2017) 63 [arXiv:1702.04963] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Ochirov, P. Tourkine and P. Vanhove, One-loop monodromy relations on single cuts, JHEP 10 (2017) 105 [arXiv:1707.05775] [INSPIRE].
- [57] Z. Bern, J.J. Carrasco, W.-M. Chen, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, Gravity amplitudes as generalized double copies of gauge-theory amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 181602 [arXiv:1701.02519] [INSPIRE].
- [58] Z. Bern et al., Five-loop four-point integrand of N = 8 supergravity as a generalized double copy, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 126012 [arXiv:1708.06807] [INSPIRE].
- [59] E.Y. Yuan, Virtual color-kinematics duality: 6-pt 1-Loop MHV amplitudes, JHEP 05 (2013) 070 [arXiv:1210.1816] [INSPIRE].
- [60] Z. Bern, S. Davies and J. Nohle, Double-copy constructions and unitarity cuts, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 105015 [arXiv:1510.03448] [INSPIRE].
- [61] G. Mogull and D. O'Connell, Overcoming obstacles to colour-kinematics duality at two loops, JHEP 12 (2015) 135 [arXiv:1511.06652] [INSPIRE].
- [62] M. Berg, I. Buchberger and O. Schlotterer, String-motivated one-loop amplitudes in gauge theories with half-maximal supersymmetry, JHEP 07 (2017) 138 [arXiv:1611.03459]
 [INSPIRE].
- [63] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering equations and Kawai-Lewellen-Tye orthogonality, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 065001 [arXiv:1306.6575] [INSPIRE].
- [64] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering of massless particles in arbitrary dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 171601 [arXiv:1307.2199] [INSPIRE].
- [65] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Scattering of massless particles: scalars, gluons and gravitons, JHEP 07 (2014) 033 [arXiv:1309.0885] [INSPIRE].
- [66] L. Mason and D. Skinner, Ambitwistor strings and the scattering equations, JHEP 07 (2014) 048 [arXiv:1311.2564] [INSPIRE].

- [67] Y. Geyer, A.E. Lipstein and L.J. Mason, Ambitwistor strings in four dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 081602 [arXiv:1404.6219] [INSPIRE].
- [68] T. Adamo, E. Casali and D. Skinner, A worldsheet theory for supergravity, JHEP 02 (2015) 116 [arXiv:1409.5656] [INSPIRE].
- [69] K. Ohmori, Worldsheet geometries of ambitwistor string, JHEP 06 (2015) 075 [arXiv:1504.02675] [INSPIRE].
- [70] E. Casali, Y. Geyer, L. Mason, R. Monteiro and K.A. Roehrig, New ambitwistor string theories, JHEP 11 (2015) 038 [arXiv:1506.08771] [INSPIRE].
- [71] T. Adamo, R. Monteiro and M.F. Paulos, Space-time CFTs from the Riemann sphere, JHEP 08 (2017) 067 [arXiv:1703.04589] [INSPIRE].
- [72] E. Casali and P. Tourkine, On the null origin of the ambitwistor string, JHEP 11 (2016)
 036 [arXiv:1606.05636] [INSPIRE].
- [73] E. Casali, Y. Herfray and P. Tourkine, The complex null string, Galilean conformal algebra and scattering equations, JHEP 10 (2017) 164 [arXiv:1707.09900] [INSPIRE].
- [74] E. Casali and P. Tourkine, Winding modes of tensionful ambitwistor strings, arXiv:1710.01241 [INSPIRE].
- [75] T. Azevedo and O.T. Engelund, Ambitwistor formulations of R² gravity and (DF)² gauge theories, JHEP 11 (2017) 052 [arXiv:1707.02192] [INSPIRE].
- [76] T. Azevedo and R.L. Jusinskas, Connecting the ambitwistor and the sectorized heterotic strings, JHEP 10 (2017) 216 [arXiv:1707.08840] [INSPIRE].
- [77] T. Adamo, E. Casali and D. Skinner, Ambitwistor strings and the scattering equations at one loop, JHEP 04 (2014) 104 [arXiv:1312.3828] [INSPIRE].
- [78] E. Casali and P. Tourkine, Infrared behaviour of the one-loop scattering equations and supergravity integrands, JHEP 04 (2015) 013 [arXiv:1412.3787] [INSPIRE].
- [79] T. Adamo and E. Casali, Scattering equations, supergravity integrands and pure spinors, JHEP 05 (2015) 120 [arXiv:1502.06826] [INSPIRE].
- [80] Y. Geyer, L. Mason, R. Monteiro and P. Tourkine, Loop integrands for scattering amplitudes from the Riemann sphere, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 121603 [arXiv:1507.00321] [INSPIRE].
- [81] Y. Geyer, L. Mason, R. Monteiro and P. Tourkine, One-loop amplitudes on the Riemann sphere, JHEP 03 (2016) 114 [arXiv:1511.06315] [INSPIRE].
- [82] Y. Geyer, L. Mason, R. Monteiro and P. Tourkine, Two-loop scattering amplitudes from the Riemann sphere, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 125029 [arXiv:1607.08887] [INSPIRE].
- [83] K.A. Roehrig and D. Skinner, A gluing operator for the ambitwistor string, JHEP 01 (2018) 069 [arXiv:1709.03262] [INSPIRE].
- [84] H. Gomez, Λ scattering equations, JHEP 06 (2016) 101 [arXiv:1604.05373] [INSPIRE].
- [85] C. Cardona and H. Gomez, Elliptic scattering equations, JHEP 06 (2016) 094 [arXiv:1605.01446] [INSPIRE].
- [86] C. Cardona and H. Gomez, CHY-graphs on a torus, JHEP 10 (2016) 116 [arXiv:1607.01871] [INSPIRE].

- [87] H. Gomez, S. Mizera and G. Zhang, CHY loop integrands from holomorphic forms, JHEP 03 (2017) 092 [arXiv:1612.06854] [INSPIRE].
- [88] S. He and E.Y. Yuan, One-loop scattering equations and amplitudes from forward limit, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 105004 [arXiv:1508.06027] [INSPIRE].
- [89] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, One-loop corrections from higher dimensional tree amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2016) 008 [arXiv:1512.05001] [INSPIRE].
- [90] C. Baadsgaard et al., New Representations of the Perturbative S-matrix, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 061601 [arXiv:1509.02169] [INSPIRE].
- [91] R. Huang, Q. Jin, J. Rao, K. Zhou and B. Feng, The Q-cut representation of one-loop integrands and unitarity cut method, JHEP 03 (2016) 057 [arXiv:1512.02860] [INSPIRE].
- [92] B. Feng, CHY-construction of planar loop integrands of cubic scalar theory, JHEP 05 (2016) 061 [arXiv:1601.05864] [INSPIRE].
- [93] R. Monteiro and D. O'Connell, The kinematic algebras from the scattering equations, JHEP
 03 (2014) 110 [arXiv:1311.1151] [INSPIRE].
- [94] S.G. Naculich, Scattering equations and BCJ relations for gauge and gravitational amplitudes with massive scalar particles, JHEP 09 (2014) 029 [arXiv:1407.7836]
 [INSPIRE].
- [95] R. Huang, J. Rao, B. Feng and Y.-H. He, An algebraic approach to the scattering equations, JHEP 12 (2015) 056 [arXiv:1509.04483] [INSPIRE].
- [96] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, J.L. Bourjaily, P.H. Damgaard and B. Feng, Manifesting color-kinematics duality in the scattering equation formalism, JHEP 09 (2016) 094 [arXiv:1608.00006] [INSPIRE].
- [97] S. Mizera, Combinatorics and topology of Kawai-Lewellen-Tye relations, JHEP 08 (2017) 097 [arXiv:1706.08527] [INSPIRE].
- [98] S. Mizera, Scattering amplitudes from intersection theory, arXiv:1711.00469 [INSPIRE].
- [99] E. Witten, Perturbative gauge theory as a string theory in twistor space, Commun. Math. Phys. 252 (2004) 189 [hep-th/0312171] [INSPIRE].
- [100] R. Roiban, M. Spradlin and A. Volovich, On the tree level S matrix of Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 026009 [hep-th/0403190] [INSPIRE].
- [101] F. Cachazo, Fundamental BCJ relation in N = 4 SYM from the connected formulation, arXiv:1206.5970 [INSPIRE].
- [102] F. Cachazo and Y. Geyer, A 'twistor string' inspired formula for tree-level scattering amplitudes in N = 8 SUGRA, arXiv:1206.6511 [INSPIRE].
- [103] C.-H. Fu, Y.-J. Du, R. Huang and B. Feng, Expansion of Einstein-Yang-Mills amplitude, JHEP 09 (2017) 021 [arXiv:1702.08158] [INSPIRE].
- [104] S. He and O. Schlotterer, New relations for gauge-theory and gravity amplitudes at loop level, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 161601 [arXiv:1612.00417] [INSPIRE].
- [105] S. He, O. Schlotterer and Y. Zhang, New BCJ representations for one-loop amplitudes in gauge theories and gravity, arXiv:1706.00640 [INSPIRE].
- [106] D.J. Gross and P.F. Mende, The high-energy behavior of string scattering amplitudes, Phys. Lett. B 197 (1987) 129 [INSPIRE].

- [107] L. Dolan and P. Goddard, Proof of the formula of Cachazo, He and Yuan for Yang-Mills tree amplitudes in arbitrary dimension, JHEP 05 (2014) 010 [arXiv:1311.5200] [INSPIRE].
- [108] F. Cachazo, S. He and E.Y. Yuan, Einstein- Yang-Mills scattering amplitudes from scattering equations, JHEP 01 (2015) 121 [arXiv:1409.8256] [INSPIRE].
- [109] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, T. Sondergaard and P. Vanhove, The momentum kernel of gauge and gravity theories, JHEP 01 (2011) 001 [arXiv:1010.3933] [INSPIRE].
- [110] C.-H. Fu, Y.-J. Du and B. Feng, An algebraic approach to BCJ numerators, JHEP 03 (2013) 050 [arXiv:1212.6168] [INSPIRE].
- [111] V. Del Duca, L.J. Dixon and F. Maltoni, New color decompositions for gauge amplitudes at tree and loop level, Nucl. Phys. B 571 (2000) 51 [hep-ph/9910563] [INSPIRE].
- M. Chiodaroli, M. Günaydin, H. Johansson and R. Roiban, Explicit formulae for Yang-Mills-Einstein amplitudes from the double copy, JHEP 07 (2017) 002
 [arXiv:1703.00421] [INSPIRE].
- [113] N. Berkovits, Infinite tension limit of the pure spinor superstring, JHEP 03 (2014) 017
 [arXiv:1311.4156] [INSPIRE].
- [114] P. Tourkine and P. Vanhove, One-loop four-graviton amplitudes in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supergravity models, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 045001 [arXiv:1208.1255] [INSPIRE].
- [115] H. Gomez, Quadratic Feynman loop integrands from massless scattering equations, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 106006 [arXiv:1703.04714] [INSPIRE].
- [116] H. Gomez, C. Lopez-Arcos and P. Talavera, One-loop Parke-Taylor factors for quadratic propagators from massless scattering equations, JHEP 10 (2017) 175 [arXiv:1707.08584]
 [INSPIRE].
- [117] T. Wang, G. Chen, Y.-K.E. Cheung and F. Xu, A differential operator for integrating one-loop scattering equations, JHEP 01 (2017) 028 [arXiv:1609.07621] [INSPIRE].
- [118] G. Chen and T. Wang, BCJ numerators from differential operator of multidimensional residue, arXiv:1709.08503 [INSPIRE].
- [119] C.S. Lam and Y.-P. Yao, Evaluation of the Cachazo-He-Yuan gauge amplitude, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 105008 [arXiv:1602.06419] [INSPIRE].
- [120] Y. Geyer and R. Monteiro, work in progress.
- [121] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon, D.C. Dunbar and D.A. Kosower, One loop n point gauge theory amplitudes, unitarity and collinear limits, Nucl. Phys. B 425 (1994) 217 [hep-ph/9403226]
 [INSPIRE].
- [122] Z. Bern, L.J. Dixon, D.C. Dunbar and D.A. Kosower, Fusing gauge theory tree amplitudes into loop amplitudes, Nucl. Phys. B 435 (1995) 59 [hep-ph/9409265] [INSPIRE].
- [123] R. Britto, F. Cachazo and B. Feng, Generalized unitarity and one-loop amplitudes in N = 4 Super-Yang-Mills, Nucl. Phys. B 725 (2005) 275 [hep-th/0412103] [INSPIRE].
- [124] R.K. Ellis and G. Zanderighi, Scalar one-loop integrals for QCD, JHEP 02 (2008) 002 [arXiv:0712.1851] [INSPIRE].
- [125] B.U.W. Schwab and A. Volovich, Subleading soft theorem in arbitrary dimensions from scattering equations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 101601 [arXiv:1404.7749] [INSPIRE].

- [126] Y. Geyer, A.E. Lipstein and L. Mason, Ambitwistor strings at null infinity and (subleading) soft limits, Class. Quant. Grav. 32 (2015) 055003 [arXiv:1406.1462] [INSPIRE].
- [127] T. Adamo, E. Casali and D. Skinner, Perturbative gravity at null infinity, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 225008 [arXiv:1405.5122] [INSPIRE].
- [128] T. Adamo and E. Casali, Perturbative gauge theory at null infinity, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 125022 [arXiv:1504.02304] [INSPIRE].
- [129] A.E. Lipstein, Soft theorems from conformal field theory, JHEP 06 (2015) 166 [arXiv:1504.01364] [INSPIRE].
- [130] F. Cachazo and A. Strominger, Evidence for a new soft graviton theorem, arXiv:1404.4091
 [INSPIRE].
- [131] E. Casali, Soft sub-leading divergences in Yang-Mills amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2014) 077
 [arXiv:1404.5551] [INSPIRE].
- [132] J.A. Farrow and A.E. Lipstein, From 4d ambitwistor strings to on shell diagrams and back, JHEP 07 (2017) 114 [arXiv:1705.07087] [INSPIRE].